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Dear fellow Unitholder,
 

F i s c a l  2 0 0 5  w a s  a  y e a r  o f  r e c o r d  g r o w t h  f o r  E n e r g y  S a v i n g s . We saw record customer 

aggregation with more than 290,000 gross additions through the efforts of our marketing team. The theme of this report, 

One door at a time, was never more true. That is the equivalent of signing every single household in Quebec City, one of 

Canada’s largest cities, during this one year. Our team of 450 independent sales agents had a great year. 

We added a further 68,000 long-term customers and entered Alberta through our acquisition of EPCOR’s deregulated gas and 

electricity business. We had targeted gross customer additions of 260,000 for the year and net additions of 160,000 or a 16% net 

addition to our customer base. Before this acquisition, our net additions were 18%. With the acquisition, net additions totaled 24%. 

Along with our continued growth, fiscal 2005 was a year of building. At the start of the year, we were an Ontario business. 

We had a few customers in Manitoba and our first agents were in the field in Illinois but more than 95% of our customers 

were in Ontario. During the year, we grew our Illinois independent sales force to approximately 125. We established successful 

operations in Quebec, British Columbia and Alberta. We committed resources to new U.S. states. Overall, we spent approximately 

$10 million to groom markets for future growth. 

While we were in the ramp-up phase in each new market, we still added 141,000 new customers outside of Ontario. This represented 

a more than 700% growth rate for the year. Our net additions outside Ontario exceeded those within the province. Every 

customer signed was at or above our target margins. This was truly a successful expansion. Despite this success, I believe last 

year only scratched the surface of our potential in new markets. 

I talk a lot about promises in this letter. One thing we never promise our customer is savings over the term of their contract, 

only stability. Despite this, just as I reported in our past two Annual Reports, our customers whose contracts expired during 

fiscal 2005 saved substantially over the price they would have paid had they remained on local utility supply. For an average 

home, the customer realized a five-year savings of $823 versus the $3,300 their neighbors paid to the local utility. 
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Letter from the Chair 

Challenges we faced during fiscal 2005 and our responses 

Over and above the normal challenges of operating a high growth business with more than 300 employees and 450 independent 

sales agents, the year offered some unique issues. 

We entered the year expecting the reopening of the entire Ontario electricity market by mid-year. In fact that market did not 

reopen during fiscal 2005. We were able to quickly redeploy our marketing resources to other markets. As noted above, this 

allowed us to exceed our target customer additions by 12% (290,000 versus 260,000 for fiscal 2005). 

We built our business model to include expected attrition through household and business moves during the year. Historically, 

this percentage has been very close to 7% per year. With an extended period of low interest rates, home sales hit and remained 

at record levels during the year. As a result, attrition was 10% rather than 7%. This required a quick and careful adjustment to 

our hedge ratios in our gas and electricity books, which we completed at the beginning of the fiscal year. These adjustments 

were made without any adverse effect on margins. 

As predicted in our past quarterly statements, our success in growing the Fund’s cash flow caught up with our tax shelter limits in the 

fourth quarter. The tax we will pay slowed the growth of our distributable cash. In response, we are proposing a tax restructuring 

similar to that completed by other trusts which, with the requisite tax ruling, will minimize taxes payable in future periods. 
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What we promised for fiscal 2005 What we delivered in fiscal 2005 

Sign 260,000 new customers Signed 290,000 new customers 

Net additions of 160,000 customers Added 174,000 customers through marketing 

Net additions of 242,000 customers including acquisitions 

Expand geographically Entered Quebec – April 2004 

Entered British Columbia – July 2004 

Entered Alberta – December 2004 

Meet our target margins for Energy Savings customers 

■ Canada gas $170/year 

■ Canada electricity $100/year 

■ United States gas $120/year 

Exceeded our target margins in every market 

■ Canada gas $182/year 

■ Canada electricity $124/year 

■ United States gas $184/year 

Customer attrition of 10% Gas attrition 10% 

Electricity attrition 6% 

Customer renewal of 80% To date, renewals have been approximately 80% of those eligible 

Grow our customers, top and bottom lines 
as well as distributions 

Customers up 18% through marketing, 24% with acquisitions. Sales up 26%, 
gross margin up 20%, distributable cash up 16% pre-tax and 7% after tax. 
Three distribution rate increases to $0.885 up from $0.78 per unit. 

Search out accretive acquisitions Acquired 68,000 customers from EPCOR 

This year I am writing for the first time as Chair instead of CEO. I have passed that role on to Brennan Mulcahy, one of the 

founding partners of Energy Savings. While he has had a number of roles within the Company through the years, his greatest 

contribution is our remarkable direct sales force. Year after year, high or low prices, cold or warm weather, tough competition 

or no competition, residential or commercial, gas or electricity, our independent sales force has exceeded all of our published 

growth targets. In every year since we went public, we have added more customers than we had at our IPO date. As you will 

see in Brennan’s letter, we do not expect this to change. 

We are a public company with a market capitalization in excess of one billion and we are publicly stating that we expect to 

grow our business by more than 15% in the coming year. I can state this with confidence because of the truly amazing team 

Brennan has built. As we move forward with this remarkable executive as CEO, you can be confident that our operations 

remain in good hands. 

As Chair, I will continue to handle most of our investor relations, act as the focal point of our relationships with regulators 

and governments, and remain as Chair of our weekly management committee meetings. As one of our largest Unitholders, 

I have a lot of eggs in this basket and I will be watching the basket very carefully. 

I look forward to seeing as many of you as possible at our Annual Meeting on June 29, 2005. 

Yours truly, 

Rebecca MacDonald (signed) 
Executive Chair 
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Letter from the Chief Executive Officer 

W e  h a v e  a n  e x c i t i n g  y e a r  c o m i n g  u p  a t  E n e r g y  S a v i n g s . Building on the investments 

of the past two years, we will be fully operational in five provinces and Illinois, with our second and largest state, New York, 

on the horizon. 

As we have in the past, we are setting targets for our new customer aggregation for the year. Given the diverse group of 

growth opportunities in front of us, we are comfortable in targeting the largest number of customer additions in our history, 

350,000 gross adds and 214,000 net adds. If met, this target would see us increase our customer base by 17% year over year. 

This is the highest target we have ever set for a year, exceeding last year’s record additions by 21%. 

Over and above this target, we have already added 187,000 new Ontario electricity customers purchased from EPCOR in May. 

These customers are lower margin than the customers we aggregate ourselves but, unlike some past acquisitions, there is not a 

large group of customers we know will not renew. Should we hit our aggregation target, with this acquisition we will increase 

our customer base by 32% in fiscal 2006. 

What would a 32% increase in our customer base mean? Because the acquired customers are low margin, our gross margin 

and distributable cash will not increase by the same percentage. Margin would be up in the range of 15% to 20%. Distributable 

cash should increase in this range subject to approval of our tax restructuring and receipt of a favorable tax ruling from the 

Canada Revenue Agency. We believe that the growth prospects of Energy Savings continue to be strong. 
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“Growth is only one side of our Company. Growth must be managed and we take 
considerable pride in our past record of strict discipline and the team we have in 
place for the future.” 

This record rate of growth is a double edged sword with respect to distributions. As a very substantial Unitholder, I want to 

see as many distribution increases as possible. To hit the customer aggregation target, however, we will also have to have 

record marketing spending. Because every marketing dollar pays back in less than one year, the obvious answer is to grow 

our customer base as quickly as is prudently possible. That means distribution increases will have to wait. More distribution 

increases should follow as our customer additions pay off in the future.   

Energy Savings has been built on high returns on investment. We do not see this changing in the future. At the date 


of writing, our Fund yields 5.5% and we expect to grow our cash flow 10% to 15% per year for the foreseeable future. 


This should result in exceptional total returns for investors.
 

Growth is only one side of our Company. Growth must be managed and we take considerable pride in our past record of 

strict discipline and the team we have in place for the future. We added 130 new employees and independent agents last year, 

an increase of 20% year over year. Many of the additional employees went into improved customer service for our growing 

client base. Others built up the exceptional team which manages our commodity supply and delivery scheduling. 

The depth of our management team has never been greater. As in the past under Rebecca’s leadership, every penny is
 

watched. We have needed and continue to need spending on infrastructure for new markets. That spending will pay off. 
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What we target for fiscal 2006 How we will deliver in fiscal 2006 

Sign 350,000 new customers 

■ 80,000 Ontario gas customers 

■ 100,000 electricity customers 

■ 70,000 gas customers elsewhere in Canada 

■ 100,000 customers in the United States 

We will continue to slowly and carefully expand our marketing team. While we expect 
only to replace our attrition in Ontario gas, our new markets provide sufficient growth 
opportunities to set our highest aggregation target ever. 

Fiscal 2005 saw the most customers ever signed at 290,000. This is a 21% increase 
over that record. 

Net additions of 214,000 customers Up 23% over last year’s record additions. 

Expand into a second U.S. state Groundwork is in place to enter New York by mid-fiscal year. 

Meet our target margins for Energy Savings’ customers 

■ Canada gas $170/year 

■ Canada electricity $100/year 

■ United States gas $140/year 

In past years, Energy Savings has always exceeded its target margins. 

We have raised our target margins for U.S. gas from $120 to $140 per year 
reflecting positive results to date. 

Customer attrition of 10% We expect housing sales to stay robust for the coming year. 
Any slowdown would reduce our attrition. 

Customer renewal of 80% We will offer a number of attractive renewal options intended to maintain our 
rate at or above 80% of those eligible for renewal. 

Grow our customers, top and bottom lines 
and distributions 

Target is 21% organic customer growth. Margin growth should parallel this. A favorable 
tax ruling should result in similar distributable cash growth. Distribution growth will lag 
cash flow growth because of projected record spending on signing new customers. 

Search out accretive acquisitions Ontario electricity acquisition in hand adds 187,000 accretive customers. We continue 
to review all available acquisitions in search of those which are accretive to Unitholders. 

Looking beyond fiscal 2006, I see no reason for dampened enthusiasm. Our near-term growth drivers – U.S. expansion, Ontario 

electricity and other provinces – will be offering growth for many years. Whether we can maintain growth at 15% plus remains 

to be seen but I am very comfortable with 10% to 15% growth as far out as we forecast. The Energy Savings’ story is not over. 

It is only beginning. 

While this is my first message as CEO of Energy Savings, it will not be the last. I hope to follow in Rebecca’s footsteps by having 

your Fund underpromise and overperform into the future. We have built an exceptional business and I invite our Unitholders 

to visit our Mississauga headquarters to see your investment in action. 

Yours truly, 

Brennan R. Mulcahy (signed) 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Our business model > Our business model has remained unchanged since inception. We build 

relationships with prospective customers through door-to-door marketing. Our commodity positions 

are carefully matched and we consistently provide superior customer service. Since our IPO, 

this simple yet effective strategy has allowed us to grow our customer base from 217,000 to 

1,235,000 long-term customers. 

The keys to our success
 

When entering a new market, we focus on building our 
sales team. In Illinois, we expanded our independent 
agent base from 18 to 125 during fiscal 2005. 

Door-to-door advantage 

Energy Savings has approximately 450 independent sales 

agents. Many have been with us since we started the business, 

and all of our agents are well-trained professionals who take 

pride in the service they provide. We believe in building 

relationships with our customers one door at a time by visiting 

prospective customers in their homes or businesses and 

showing them the benefits of energy price protection. 
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Energy Savings’ customer service representatives field 700 calls a day 
from our more than 1.2 million customers. 

Low-risk operations 

Since our inception, we have employed a simple three-step 

process to procure and sell gas and electricity. First we 

estimate the amount of electricity or gas that we believe our 

independent agents can market successfully over a four- to 

eight-week period at the current five-year pricing. We develop 

our offering based on our five-year price and our target 

margin. Then we secure our five-year, fixed price commodity 

supply, taking into account our low, but predictable, customer 

attrition rate. Finally, our agents market the new package until 

our supply is exhausted. By strictly adhering to this process, we 

match our supply with our demand. We also minimize risk by 

ensuring agent compliance in acquiring quality customers. 

In Alberta and Illinois, the only regions where we assume 

credit risk, we perform credit checks on all new customers. 

Outstanding customer service 

In addition to meeting customer demand for price stability, 

another key reason for the continued expansion of our 

customer base is the exceptional quality of our customer 

service. All of our Customer Service representatives have 

completed a comprehensive training course to ensure a good 

understanding of the industry in general and Energy Savings’ 

products and procedures in particular. Customer Service 

representatives are available to respond to customer needs 

seven days a week and are supported by a robust information 

technology system that allows them to access customer 

data quickly and accurately. In fiscal 2005, we improved 

our service level, which is the percentage of customers 

who spoke to a representative in 50 seconds or less, to 80%, 

compared to 70% in 2004. 
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$823 is the average household savings for our natural gas customers 
who completed their five-year contracts in fiscal 2005. 

Our customers want protection 
from energy price volatility 

While the motivation behind the demand for price protection 

differs between our residential customers and our commercial 

customers, they still have the same basic requirement: price 

stability for their energy supply. Residential customers like 

our five-year, fixed price energy plans for the same reason 

approximately 60%* of the public choose fixed rate mortgages: 

peace of mind. Commercial customers are attracted by the 

ease of planning and budgeting. 

Either way, it is stability that draws our customers rather than 

any cost savings they might realize. As with interest rates, 

depending on the movement of floating market rates they 

may end up paying a premium, but the protection from 

volatility is worth it. 

*Reference: The Globe and Mail 

We never promise our customer savings over the term of 

their contract, only stability. Despite this, our customers 

whose contracts expired during fiscal 2005 saved $823 over 

the term of the contract. 

Product offering 

Our core products are the five-year, fixed price gas and 

electricity supply contracts. The contracts are irrevocable 

unless the customer moves. 
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Products and markets > We are in the business of providing peace of mind. 

Energy Savings supplies protection from energy price volatility to a range of 

residential and commercial customers across Canada, Illinois and, within the 

next year, New York. 

Opening doors 

Energy Savings’ growing 
customer base is largely composed 
of residential homeowners. 

Residential 
65% 

Commercial and 
small business 
35% 

Restaurants and other small businesses find budgeting 
and planning easier with Energy Savings’ fixed price plans.

Market penetration 

We currently market natural gas in the deregulated markets 

of Ontario, Quebec, Manitoba, Alberta, British Columbia 

and Illinois. We also operate in the electricity market in 

Ontario and Alberta. Until recently, only Ontario’s large 

commercial electricity market was deregulated. As a result, 

we only operated in that commercial market in fiscal 2005. 

With the change in regulatory environment in March 2005, 

we ramped up to begin sales to residential consumers and 

small business owners starting in fiscal 2006. 
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Opportunity knocks 


Our current growth markets, of Ontario United States 
Electricity Gas and electricitywhich the U.S. is the largest, total 

5.5 million 12.5 million
approximately 21 million potential 
new electricity and gas customers. 

Alberta 
Gas and electricity 

2.7 million 

Growth platform expanded in 2005 

While we continued our sales and acquisition activities in 

fiscal 2005, we also expanded our capacity to operate in the 

existing and new markets, allowing for our next phase of 

multi-year growth. As a result of these improvements, we are 

now poised to add new customers in our existing markets 

without significant new capital expenditures. During fiscal 2005, 

we implemented an information technology system for our 

U.S. markets and we will complete the process as we enter 

New York. We increased the number of independent sales 

agents and back office support staff by 130 in order to grow 

sales, support continued expansion of our customer base and 

meet growing transaction processing needs. This buildup was 

concentrated in the U.S., since that is our largest growth market. 

How we grow 

Gaining customers one door at a time has been and will 

continue to be the centerpiece of Energy Savings’ growth 

strategy. Direct marketing to prospective customers provides 

ongoing organic growth and increases our market share. The 

Ontario electricity market represents our largest opportunity 

for organic growth in Canada. The reopening of the consumer 

and small business electricity markets in 2005 adds a potential 

5.5 million customers in a region that we understand well and 

where we have established infrastructure for growth. Ramp-up 

in sales agents and active marketing is underway and will 

continue as the residential market reopens. 
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Our growth strategy > Through a combination of door-to-door 

marketing and carefully chosen acquisitions, Energy Savings has 

grown significantly in terms of sales and customers since fiscal 2002, 

our first year as a public company. Fiscal 2005 saw us enter three 

new markets, expand in our existing markets and significantly 

increase our capacity for future growth. 

Growth at-a-glance: April 2004 – entered Quebec · July 2004 – entered British Columbia · 
December 2004 – entered Alberta 

Along with organic growth, acquisitions have been an effective 

way for Energy Savings to move into new geographies and 

quickly build critical mass. During fiscal 2005, we acquired 

the deregulated customer base of EPCOR in Alberta, which 

gave us a solid start in both the electricity and gas markets. 

We acquired 45,000 gas customers and 90,000 electricity 

customers of which we expect to retain 50%. From this base 

we can market to Alberta’s 1.2 million gas and 1.5 million 

electricity consumers. 

U.S. progress 

Our biggest opportunity is to the south as many U.S. states 

continue to deregulate their energy markets. At the end of 

fiscal 2004, we entered the U.S. market through Illinois, which 

has a potential of 3 million customers and is only 8% penetrated 

by deregulated competitors. We now have three sales offices 

(with a fourth office opening in the first quarter of fiscal 2006) 

and 125 independent sales agents in the field, which allowed 

us to aggregate 52,000 customers, surpassing our published 

fiscal 2005 goal. 

We also announced our entry into New York by the fall of 2005. 

New York, along with the other U.S. states that we plan to 

target over the next several years – Indiana, Maryland and 

Virginia – together have an additional 12.5 million-plus target 

customers, all with low penetration rates. We are approaching 

this exciting opportunity conservatively, using the same proven 

techniques that have served us so well in Canada. 
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Your Fund’s governance 
One of our principal aims as an income fund is similar to one of our major goals as an energy price protection company: 

to provide stability and peace of mind. To achieve that goal – and to deserve the confidence and trust of our Unitholders – 

we have committed to transparency in our operations, and welcomed the guidance provided by an active, independent board. 

Every aspect of our approach to governance meets or exceeds all recommended standards. 

We believe that transparency is best achieved by clearly communicating our objectives for growing our business and then 

reporting on performance against those targets. Similarly, we build trust by employing conservative accounting and ensuring 

management’s interests are congruent with those of Unitholders. Our accounting practice is to expense all customer 

aggregation costs as they are incurred, while recognizing revenue only as the commodity is consumed by our customers. 

We ensure that management is acting in the best interests of Unitholders by mandating high unit ownership and by strictly 

aligning bonuses with performance measurements determined by our independent board. Our unit compensation consists of fully 

paid unit appreciation rights (“UARs”), which are paid for by our employees out of what would have been cash compensation. 

Your Board of Directors, which consists of six independent directors and two inside directors (Rebecca MacDonald and 

Brennan Mulcahy), oversees governance of the Fund. The Board is monitored by a lead independent director, Hugh Segal. 

All Board committees are composed of outside directors only, and in April 2005, we separated the roles of Chair and CEO, 

bringing all aspects of our governance to the highest level. 

Additional details of our governance can be found in Energy Savings’ 2005 Management Information Circular. 

Independent directors 

Hugh D. Segal President, Institute for Research on Public Policy 
Hugh Segal became President of the Institute for Research on Public 

Policy in July 1999. From November 1998 to July 1999, Mr. Segal was 

a Senior Fellow, School of Policy Studies at Queen’s University. 

Brian R.D. Smith Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy Consultant 
Brian Smith is the Federal Chief Treaty Negotiator and Energy Consultant, 

a position he has held since June 2001. Prior to this, Mr. Smith was the 

Chair of British Columbia Hydro, a position he held from 1996 to June 2001. 

The Hon. Michael J.L. Kirby Member of Senate of Canada and 
Corporate Director The Honourable Michael Kirby has been a member 

of the Senate of Canada since 1984. From 1994 to 1999, Mr. Kirby 

served as Chair of the Standing State Committee on Banking, Trade and 

Commerce and presently serves as Chair of the Standing Senate 

Committee on Social Affairs, Science and Technology. 

John A. Brussa Partner, Burnet, Duckworth & Palmer LLP 
John Brussa is a Partner in the Calgary based energy law firm of Burnet, 

Duckworth & Palmer, specializing in the area of energy and taxation. He is 

also a director of a number of energy and energy-related corporations and 

income funds. 

The Hon. Donald S. Macdonald Senior Policy Advisor, Lang Michener 
The Honourable Donald Macdonald is the Senior Advisor on Public Policy 

for Lang Michener. Mr. Macdonald served as Member of the House of 

Commons for 16 years, holding the portfolios of Government House Leader, 

Minister of National Defence, Minister of Energy, Mines, and Resources, 

and Minister of Finance. 

John Panneton President, Goodman Private Wealth Management 
John Panneton was appointed President, Goodman Private Wealth 

Management in June 2003. Mr. Panneton joined Dundee Securities 

Corporation in May 1998 as Vice Chairman and President and continues 

to hold the position of Vice Chairman since January 2003. 
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Your executive team 

1 2 

43 5 

Officers 

Rebecca MacDonald1 Executive Chair 
Rebecca MacDonald was a founder of Energy Savings and has held the 

position of Chair and CEO since the Fund’s IPO. Prior to the formation 

of Energy Savings, Ms. MacDonald was the President of Energy Marketing 

Inc. (a gas marketing company). 

Brennan R. Mulcahy2 Chief Executive Officer 
Brennan Mulcahy was also a founder of Energy Savings. He has acted 

in progressively more responsible executive roles since its inception. 

Prior to the formation of Energy Savings, he served as a marketer for 

Consolidated Gas Limited (a gas marketing company). 

Debbie S. Wernet3 President – U.S. Energy Savings Corp. 
Debbie Wernet joined the Company in August 2003 as President 

of U.S. Energy Savings Corp., the Fund’s operating subsidiary in the 

United States. Before that time, Ms. Wernet served as President of 

Shell Trading Gas and Power N.A. Company from 2000 to 2003. 

Ken Hartwick, C.A.4 Chief Financial Officer 
Ken Hartwick joined the Company in April 2004 as Chief Financial 

Officer. Prior to this, Mr. Hartwick was Chief Financial Officer of 

Hydro One Inc. from 2000 to 2003. 

Paul DeVries5 President – Canadian Operations 
Paul DeVries joined the Company in April 2002. From January 1997 

to April 2002, Mr. DeVries served as Vice President in charge of 

Eastern Canadian operations for Enron Canada Corporation. 
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MD&A at-a-glance
 

Customers increased 24% year over year, growing from 

993,000 to 1,235,000. 

Published % 
Customer Additions F2005 Target Realized 

Gas 237,000 210,000 113% 

Electricity 53,000 50,000 106% 

Total 290,000 260,000 112% 

Energy Savings entered the Alberta market by acquiring 

45,000 gas and 90,000 electricity customers from EPCOR. 

Approximately half of these are expected to become 

long-term customers. 

Selling expenses increased 33% from $30.2 million in 

fiscal 2004 to $40.0 million in fiscal 2005 as a result 

of increased customer aggregation. 

Gross margin 
(millions $) 

163.7 

136.8 

112.6 

55.5 

34.0 The increase in gross margin in 

fiscal 2005 parallels the increase 

in long-term customers.
* 

*For the 11 months ended March 31, 2002. 

01 02 03 04 05 

Gas margin per customer for Canada was $182, excluding 

acquisitions, compared with $195 in fiscal 2004 and above the 

$170 target. Electricity margin per customer in Canada was 

$124, excluding acquisitions, compared with $115 in fiscal 

2004 and above the $100 target. Gas margin per customer for 

Illinois was $184 compared to the target of $120. The U.S. 

target margin per customer has been revised to $140. 

Pre-marketing cash 
(millions $) 

116.0 
124.0 

98.4 Payout ratios before marketing 

costs were 72% compared to 65% 

in fiscal 2004. Excluding the 

47.7 
impact of the tax provision, the 

payout ratio before marketing 
30.1 costs would have been 66%. Our 

published target for pre-marketing 

payout ratios is 60% to 70%. 
01 02 03 04 05 

Attrition rate:
 

Fiscal 2005 gas customers: 10%
 

Fiscal 2005 electricity customers: 6%
 

Preparing for the increasing number of customer contracts up
 

for renewal, Energy Savings implemented a marketing program
 

expected to achieve an 80% customer renewal rate.
 

General and administrative costs were up 47% to $29.0 million,
 

as a result of the cost of expansion in four markets. Each new
 

market adds $2–3 million in general and administrative costs,
 

the majority of which will be ongoing.
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This MD&A “at-a-glance” highlights some of the more significant information 
that is found in the management’s discussion and analysis, which follows on page 19. 
It does not attempt to provide a complete summary of Energy Savings’ strategies, 
business environment or performance. 

Cash position at March 31, 2005 was $16.1 million, down from 

$40.2 million because of expenses related to expansion into 

Quebec, British Columbia, Alberta and Illinois. In addition, 

the $10.3 million acquisition of EPCOR was funded out of 

cash on hand. 

The Fund has access to a $60.0 million operating credit 

facility to aid expansion into new markets. 

Due to the continued success of the Ontario market, 

Energy Savings made a provision of $10.5 million for income 

taxes payable for 2005. The Fund is proposing a reorganization 

from a “trust on corporation” structure to a “trust on trust 

Cash distributions received in fiscal 2005 were as follows: 

Period 
Record Date Distribution Date Covered 

partnership” structure, subject to Unitholder approval. 

The new structure would result in distributions being taxed 

at the Unitholder level rather than the corporate level. 

Outlook 

In May 2005 Energy Savings announced its intention to 

enter the New York gas and electricity markets beginning 

in mid-fiscal 2006. Also in May 2005, the Fund acquired 

187,000 Ontario electricity customers from EPCOR, which 

is expected to be accretive to distributable cash. 

Management announced fiscal 2006 targets of 350,000 gross 

customer additions and 214,000 net additions. 

Tax Allocation 

Payment Return of 
per Unit Interest Dividends Capital 

April 15, 2004 April 30, 2004 March 2004 0.06700 0.04453 0.01137 0.01110 

May 15, 2004 May 31, 2004 April 2004 0.06700 0.04231 0.02224 0.00245 

June 15, 2004 June 30, 2004 May 2004 0.06700 0.04404 0.01383 0.00913 

July 15, 2004 July 31, 2004 June 2004 0.06960 0.04263 0.01522 0.01175 

August 15, 2004 August 31, 2004 July 2004 0.06960 0.04442 0.01928 0.00590 

September 15, 2004 September 30, 2004 August 2004 0.06960 0.04438 0.01631 0.00891 

October 15, 2004 October 31, 2004 September 2004 0.07200 0.04232 0.01765 0.01203 

November 15, 2004 November 30, 2004 October 2004 0.07200 0.04601 0.02589 0.00010 

December 15, 2004 December 31, 2004 November 2004 0.07200 0.04527 0.02663 0.00010 

January 15, 2005 January 31, 2005 December 2004 0.07200 0.04676 0.02515 0.00009 

February 15, 2005 February 28, 2005 January 2005† 0.07200 0.04647 0.02415 0.00138 

March 15, 2005 March 31, 2005 February 2005† 0.07200 0.04189 0.02513 0.00498 

†Amounts are estimates. 
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Management’s discussion and analysis 
May 18, 2005 

Overview 
The following is a discussion of the consolidated financial condition and results of operations of Energy Savings Income Fund 

(“Energy Savings” or the “Fund”) for the year ended March 31, 2005 and has been prepared with all information available up to 

and including May 18, 2005. All amounts in this MD&A are in Canadian dollars. 

Copies of financial data and other publicly filed documents are available through the Internet on the Canadian Securities 

Administrators’ System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval (“SEDAR”) which can be accessed at www.sedar.com. 

Energy Savings is an open-ended, limited-purpose trust established under the laws of Ontario to hold securities and to distribute 

the income of its wholly owned subsidiaries: Ontario Energy Savings Corp. (“OESC”), Energy Savings (Manitoba) Corp. 

(“ESMC”), Energy Savings (Quebec) L.P. (“ESPQ”), ES (B.C.) Limited Partnership (“ESBC”), Alberta Energy Savings L.P. 

(“AESLP”) and U.S. Energy Savings Corp. (“USESC”). Through its subsidiaries, Energy Savings markets natural gas to 

residential customers and small to mid-sized commercial businesses in Ontario, Manitoba, Alberta and Illinois and solely to 

commercial customers in Quebec and British Columbia. Energy Savings also markets electricity to small and mid-sized commercial 

customers in Ontario and Alberta, including residential customers in Alberta. 

The Fund meets the estimated energy requirements of its customers by purchasing matching volumes of gas and electricity. 

Customers eliminate their exposure to price escalations and the Fund locks in its margins by entering into long-term, fixed price 

contracts for gas and electricity supply. 

Financial highlights 
For the years ended March 31
 

(thousands of dollars except where indicated and per unit amounts)
 

2005 2004 2003 

Per Per Per 
$  Unit Change $  Unit Change $ Unit 

Amount available for distribution1 

Before selling expense 124,007 $1.17 7 % 116,027 $1.10 18% 98,440 $0.97 

After selling expense 84,013 $0.79 (2)% 85,852 $0.82 14% 75,393 $0.74 

Distributions 89,161 $0.84 17 % 75,949 $0.72 38% 55,214 $0.54 

General and administrative 28,905 $0.27 47 % 19,684 $0.19 56% 12,633 $0.13 

Payout ratio 

Before selling expense 72% 65% 56%
 

After selling expense 106% 88% 73%
 

1Prior years’ amounts have been reclassified to reflect income taxes paid. See “Amount available for distribution”. 

Included in the fiscal 2005 payout ratios is a provision of $10.5 million relating to a corporate tax liability. Excluding this 

provision, the payout ratios before and after selling expenses were 66% and 94%, respectively. The Fund targets a payout ratio 

of 65% to 70% before selling expenses. 

http:www.sedar.com
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Operations 
Canadian markets – Gas 
In each of the markets in which Energy Savings operates, it is required to deliver gas to the local distribution companies 

(Enbridge Consumers Gas, Union Gas, Gaz Metro, Terasen and ATCO, collectively the “LDCs”) for its customers 

throughout the year. 

In Ontario, Quebec and British Columbia, the volumes delivered for a customer typically remain constant throughout the year. 

Energy Savings accounts for sales when the customer actually consumes the gas. During the winter months, gas is consumed at 

a rate which is greater than delivery and in the summer months gas is delivered in excess of gas consumed. Energy Savings 

receives cash from the LDCs as the gas is delivered. 

In Manitoba and Alberta, the volume of gas delivered in winter months is higher than the spring and summer months. 

Consequently, cash received from customers will be higher in the winter months. 

In Alberta, Energy Savings receives cash only when the customer has paid for the consumed gas. Alberta’s regulatory environment 

is different from the other Canadian provincial markets whereby Energy Savings is required to invoice and receive payments 

directly from customers. In December 2004 Energy Savings entered into a five-year agreement with EPCOR Utilities Inc. 

(“EPCOR”) for the provision of billing and collection services in Alberta. EPCOR has been and will continue to be the billing 

agent for all of the Alberta customers purchased by Energy Savings (see “Customer aggregation – Long-term customers”). 

Canadian markets – Electricity 
In Ontario and Alberta, electricity accounts are automatically balanced daily. In real time, any supply greater than consumption 

is immediately sold off into the open market at the spot price, while any shortfall is immediately purchased in the open market 

at the spot price. Cash flows from electricity operations will be greatest during the summer and winter quarters as electricity 

consumption is typically highest during these periods. 

U.S. market – Gas 
In Illinois, Energy Savings receives cash from Nicor (the “Illinois LDC”) only when the customer has paid Nicor for the 

consumed gas. Cash flows from the Illinois operations are greatest in the Fund’s third and fourth quarters as normally cash is 

received from the Illinois LDC in the same period as customer consumption. Management anticipates that the majority of 

future U.S. markets that Energy Savings may enter will function in a manner similar to Illinois. 
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Seasonally adjusted analysis 
Management believes the best basis for analyzing both the Fund’s operating results and the amount available for distribution is 

to focus on amounts actually received (“seasonally adjusted”). The following analysis eliminates seasonal variances and illustrates 

the gas actually delivered to LDCs, the cash received and associated margins. Management utilizes this non-GAAP financial 

measure to determine future distributions. These non-GAAP financial measures do not have any standardized meaning 

prescribed by GAAP and may not be comparable to similar measures presented by other issuers. No such seasonally adjusted 

analysis is required for electricity as electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. 

As the Fund continues to further expand into other U.S. markets and grow in Alberta, seasonal working capital requirements 

will increase. This working capital requirement is directly attributable to the fact that in certain markets Energy Savings must 

purchase and deliver gas supply in advance of customer consumption and the receipt of cash from the LDCs. In anticipation of 

the future working capital requirements, the Fund, through its direct and indirect wholly owned subsidiaries OESC and USESC, 

has entered into a $60.0 million operating credit facility. See “Liquidity and capital resources” for further details. 

Reconciliation of revenue received and associated margin 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

2005 2004 2003 

Gas margin – Canada $ 122,648 $ 101,456 $ 109,836 

Opening unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable 7,085 12,295 217 

Opening gas in storage – – 2,074 

Closing unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable (9,636) (7,085) (12,295) 

(2,551) 5,210 (10,004) 

Other adjustments1 – – 3,605 

Gas gross margin – Canada before balancing 120,097 106,666 103,437 

Balancing allowance2 – 2,500 (50) 

Seasonally adjusted gas gross margin – Canada 120,097 109,166 103,387 

Electricity margin – Canada 38,864 27,593 9,248 

Gross margin – Canada 158,961 136,759 112,635 

Gross margin – U.S. 4,737 – – 

Gross margin available for distribution $ 163,698 $ 136,759 $ 112,635 

1Included in other adjustments for the year ended March 31, 2003 were amounts owing to LDCs for over-delivered gas during the year which was 
subsequently sold to third parties. 

2The initial balancing allowance set up in 2002 was in anticipation of balancing costs associated with the 2002 warm winter. Management believes 
that all those balancing transactions have already occurred and a provision is no longer required. 
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Amount available for distribution 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars except per unit amounts) 

2005 2004 2003 

Per Unit1 Per Unit1 Per Unit1 

Gross margin available for distribution $ 163,698 $ 136,759 $ 112,635 

Less: 

General and administrative 28,905 19,684 12,633 

Capital tax 704 1,198 820 

Income tax2 10,475 394 1,230 

Other expense (income)3 190 (514) (488) 

Loss on foreign exchange (583) (30) 

39,691 20,732 14,195 

Available for distribution before 

selling expenses 124,007 $ 1.17 116,027 $ 1.10 98,440 $ 0.97 

Selling expenses 39,994 30,175 23,047 

Amount available for distribution $ 84,013 $ 0.79 $ 85,852 $ 0.82 $ 75,393 $ 0.74 

Reconciliation to Statement of cash flows 

Cash flow from operations before 

working capital $ 80,731 $ 80,173 $ 71,003 

Tax effect on distributions paid to 

Class A preference shareholders4 3,282 3,179 4,017 

84,013 83,352 75,020 

Allowance for balancing5 – 2,500 (50)
 

Other6 – – 423
 

Amount available for distribution $ 

– 

84,013 $ 

2,500 

85,852 $ 

373 

75,393 

Distributions 

Unitholder distributions 

Class A preference share distributions 

Unit appreciation rights 

$ 80,014 

9,088 

56 

$ 67,147 

8,802 

– 

$ 43,195 

11,123 

– 

89,158 75,949 54,318 

Non-cash distributions – 

Deferred unit grants 3 – – 

Non-cash distributions – 

Class B preference shares – – 896 

Total distributions $ 89,161 $ 0.84 $ 75,949 $ 0.72 $ 55,214 $ 0.54 
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Notes 

1Diluted average number of units amounted to 106.3 million for the year ended March 31, 2005. For comparative purposes the diluted number 
of units was 105.2 million for the year ended March 31, 2004 and 101.8 million for the year ended March 31, 2003. In fiscal 2004, the Fund 
subdivided its units on a two for one basis effective January 30, 2004. In fiscal 2003, the Fund also subdivided its units on a two for one basis 
effective July 30, 2002. All comparable unit and per unit data has been adjusted retroactively to reflect the impact of these unit splits. 

2As anticipated by management, the Fund became taxable during the year. See “Income taxes” for further discussion on taxes. The prior 
comparative years utilized the deduction of acquisition costs to reduce taxable income. As a result, the income tax amounts of prior years relate 
to large corporation tax (“LCT”) only. Management has reclassified the 2004 and 2003 “Amount available for distribution” to include the 
impact of the LCT. 

3Other income relates to interest earned on investments. Other expense relates to foreign exchange, interest and other service charges, net of interest 
income. This balance excludes any income/loss from changes in fair market values of derivative financial instruments which are marked to market. 

4Energy Savings adopted Emerging Issues Committee Abstract 151 (“EIC-151”), “Exchangeable Securities Issued by Subsidiaries of Income Trusts”, 
effective April 1, 2004. All Class A preference shares are included as part of Unitholders’ equity on the consolidated financial statements of the 
Fund. In addition, the distributions paid to the Class A preference shareholders (previously included in the Statement of operations as Management 
Incentive Program) are now included as distributions on the Fund’s Statement of Unitholders’ equity net of tax. The comparative amounts of prior 
periods have been adjusted accordingly. See “New accounting standards” for further details. 

5The initial balancing allowance set up in 2002 was in anticipation of balancing costs associated with the 2002 warm winter. Management believes 
that all those balancing transactions have already occurred and a provision is no longer required. 

6Included in other adjustments for the year ended March 31, 2003 were amounts owing to LDCs for over-delivered gas during the year which was 
subsequently sold to third parties. 
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Selected consolidated financial data 
(thousands of dollars except where indicated and per unit amounts) 

The consolidated financial statements of the Fund are prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting 

principles (“GAAP”) and are expressed in Canadian dollars. The following table provides selected financial information for the 

last three fiscal years. 

Statement of operations data 

For the years ended March 31 

2005 2004 

Sales 

Net income1 

Net income per unit1 

Basic 

Diluted 

$ 920,913 

37,205 

0.36 

0.35 

$ 733,104 

23,015 

0.23 

0.22 

$ 538,668 

24,968 

0.27 

0.25 

Balance sheet data 

As at March 31 

2005 2004 2003 

Total assets 

Long-term liabilities 

$ 340,998 

21,664 

$ 301,576 

29,856 

$ 340,946 

40,706 

1Prior years’ amounts have been restated to reflect the adoption of EIC-151. See “New accounting standards”. 

2005 compared with 2004 
The increase in sales is primarily a result of the increase in long-term customers from 993,000 to 1,235,000. 

The increase in net income and net income per unit are a result of an increase in gross margin due to customer growth, offset 

by increases in selling and general and administrative costs. The increase in expenses is directly attributable to the Fund’s 

expansion into new markets, including the aggregation of customers and the development of infrastructure and capabilities to 

operate in these new markets. 

Total assets increased largely as a result of the terms of the new operating credit facility agreement. Under the previous supplier 

arrangement, the net accounts receivable (Canadian LDC receipts less commodity supply) was remitted to Energy Savings. The 

current arrangement requires Energy Savings to receive payment from the LDC or customers directly followed by payment to 

the supplier for commodity purchases. 

Long-term liabilities are primarily future income taxes. The decrease is attributable to the decrease in the difference between 

the tax and accounting cost basis of the acquired gas and electricity contracts. The majority of these assets are deducted for tax at 

a rate greater than that for accounting. 

2003 
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2004 compared with 2003 
The increase in sales over the prior year is primarily a result of the overall increase in long-term customers from approximately 

690,000 to 993,000. 

The decrease in net income year over year is attributable to the lower margin percentage associated with the customer contracts 

acquired from third parties, an overall increase in expense to support new market expansion and a larger customer base, which 

resulted in a lower percentage increase in net income compared to sales, although these higher costs were offset somewhat by an 

increase in income tax recovery. 

Net income per unit decreased primarily as a result of an increase in the number of units outstanding during the year compared 

to the prior year. 

Long-term liabilities relate entirely to future income taxes. The decrease in future income taxes is attributable to the difference 

between the tax and accounting cost basis for the gas and electricity contracts. The majority of these assets are deducted for tax at 

a rate greater than that used for accounting. 

Summary of quarterly results 
For the years ended March 31
 

(thousands of dollars except per unit amounts)
 

2005 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Sales per financial statements $ 186,073 $ 114,290 $ 213,649 $ 406,901 $ 920,913 

Net income (loss) 5,649 (2,754) 7,042 27,268 37,205 

Net income (loss) per unit – Basic $ 0.05 $ (0.03) $ 0.07 $ 0.26 $ 0.36 

Net income (loss) per unit – Diluted 0.05 (0.03) 0.07 0.26 0.35 

Amount available for distribution 

Before selling expense $ 27,825 $ 32,769 $ 34,930 $ 28,483 $ 124,007 

After selling expense 18,862 22,094 23,603 19,454 84,013 

Payout ratio 

Before selling expense 77% 68% 65% 81% 72% 

After selling expense 113% 100% 96% 118% 106% 

2004 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Sales per financial statements $ 132,300 $ 106,096 $ 181,803 $ 312,905 $ 733,104 

Net income (loss)1 2,102 (7,120) 5,309 22,724 23,015 

Net income (loss) per unit – Basic1 $ 0.01 $ (0.08) $ 0.05 $ 0.22 $ 0.23 

Net income (loss) per unit – Diluted1 0.01 (0.07) 0.05 0.21 0.22 

Amount available for distribution 

Before selling expense2 $ 29,364 $ 26,993 $ 30,792 $ 28,878 $ 116,027 

After selling expense2 20,400 20,562 22,385 22,505 85,852 

Payout ratio 

Before selling expense 64% 70% 64% 70% 65% 

After selling expense 92% 92% 88% 90% 88% 

1Restated to reflect the adoption of EIC-151. See “New accounting standards”. 
2Reclassified to reflect change in presentation of income taxes. 
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Analysis of the fourth quarter 
Sales are typically higher in the fourth quarter given gas consumption is at the highest level during the winter months and more than 

65% of the current customer base represents gas customers. The 30% increase in sales compared to the prior comparable quarter is 

primarily attributable to the increase in customers year over year. Net income increased by 20% despite the corporate income tax 

provision of $10.0 million for the quarter. The higher net income reflected the higher sales and margins due to higher customer levels. 

The increase in the payout ratios both before and after selling expenses from the prior comparable quarter is attributable to the 

corporate tax liability for fiscal 2005 recognized during the fourth quarter as the majority of income is generated during that quarter. 

Excluding this provision, the payout ratios before and after selling expenses were 60% and 78%, respectively, for the quarter. 

Sales, gross margins and marketing results 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

Per Financial Statements Seasonally Adjusted 

Cost of Gross Cost of Gross 
Sales Sales Margin Sales Sales Margin 

Gas 

Canada $ 621,837 $ 499,189 $ 122,648 $ 608,796 $ 488,699 $ 120,097 

United States 26,853 22,116 4,737 26,853 22,116 4,737 

2005 648,690 521,305 127,385 635,649 510,815 124,834 

2004 525,497 424,041 101,456 535,004 425,838 109,166 

Increase 123,193 97,264 25,929 100,645 84,977 15,668 

Electricity 

2005 272,223 233,359 38,864 272,223 233,359 38,864 

2004 207,607 180,014 27,593 207,607 180,014 27,593 

Increase 64,616 53,345 11,271 64,616 53,345 11,271 

Total increase $ 187,809 $ 150,609 $ 37,200 $ 165,261 $ 138,322 $ 26,939 

Financial statements – Gross margin 
As noted above, sales have increased $187.8 million (26%) on a financial statement basis and $165.3 million (22%) on a seasonally 

adjusted basis for the year ended March 31, 2005 as compared to the prior year. Margins have increased $37.2 million (29%) on a 

financial statement basis and $26.9 million (20%) on a seasonally adjusted basis for the same comparative period. 

Gas 

Gas sales were $648.7 million for the year, up 23% from $525.5 million in fiscal 2004. Gas margins were $127.4 million for the 

year, up 26% from $101.5 million in the prior year. The increase in sales and margin is primarily attributable to the fact that 

long-term customers increased 26% from the previous year. See “Customer aggregation” for further details. 

Electricity 

Electricity sales were $272.2 million for the year, up 31% from $207.6 million in fiscal 2004. Electricity margins were 

$38.9 million in 2005, up from $27.6 million (41%) in fiscal 2004. The increase in sales and margins is primarily the result of 

an increase in long-term customers of 22% from the previous year. See “Customer aggregation” for further details. The higher 

increase in margin compared to number of long-term customers reflects stable margin per long-term customer and positive 

margin impact from acquired customers not expected to renew. 



27 
Energy Savings Income Fund Annual Report 2005 

Seasonally adjusted – Gross margin 
The Fund has separated the gross margin received from customers (this number eliminates both seasonality and other weather 

variances) and the gross margin attributable to balancing activities in the quarter (the approximate impact of weather variance 

for the period) for the gas business. These components are added to electricity gross margin (electricity balancing costs are 

primarily passed on to the customer) and extraction revenue (sale of liquids extracted from gas) to equal total gross margin. 

Fiscal 2005 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD 

Customer margins from LDCs 

Balancing adjustments 

Balancing allowance 

Extraction revenue 

$ 28,443 

(924) 

– 

10 

$ 27,701 

2,140 

– 

51 

$ 30,951 

1,173 

– 

118 

$ 33,642 

1,379 

– 

150 

$ 120,737 

3,768 

– 

329 

Total gas margins 

Electricity margins 

Total margin $ 

27,529 

8,723 

36,252 $ 

29,892 

9,378 

39,270 $ 

32,242 

9,996 

42,238 $ 

35,171 

10,767 

45,938 $ 

124,834 

38,864 

163,698 

Fiscal 2004 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 YTD 

Customer margins from LDCs 

Balancing adjustments 

Balancing allowance 

Extraction revenue 

$ 25,620 

1,017 

1,500 

102 

$ 28,064 

(2,861) 

250 

148 

$ 28,805 

(619) 

– 

106 

$ 26,850 

(599) 

750 

33 

$ 109,339 

(3,062) 

2,500 

389 

Total gas margins 

Electricity margins 

Total margin $ 

28,239 

5,009 

33,248 $ 

25,601 

6,119 

31,720 $ 

28,292 

7,964 

36,256 $ 

27,034 

8,501 

35,535 $ 

109,166 

27,593 

136,759 

Gas 

On a seasonally adjusted basis, margins from customers were $120.7 million, up from $109.3 million (10%) in the prior year. 

The increase in margins is primarily the result of an increase in long-term customers of 26% offset by lower margin percentage 

generated by acquired customers. Total gas margins for the year (including balancing adjustments and extraction revenue) was 

$124.8 million, up from $109.2 million (14%) in 2004. The lower percentage increase in margin versus the percentage increase in 

long-term customers is attributable to the fact that more than half of the new customers were added in new markets and that few 

of these new market customers flowed more than a few months during the year. 

Customer margin per residential customer equivalent (“RCE”) for Canada in 2005 was $182/RCE excluding contracts purchased 

through various acquisitions, a decrease from $195/RCE for the prior year but well above the $170 target. The decrease in margin 

over the prior year is a result of the expiration of certain low cost supply contracts during the early part of the year. Margins per new 

customer are targeted at or above the target of $170 per year. The margin per RCE in Canada including acquisitions amounted to 

$160/RCE, compared to the margin of $177/RCE from the prior year. 

Customer margin per RCE for Illinois was $184/RCE, compared to the target margin of $120/RCE. Management had established a 

conservative margin target due to uncertainties upon entrance into the marketplace and the need to operate through an annual 

gas balancing cycle. Management has set a revised annual gross margin target for the new U.S. customers at $140/RCE. While 

this target is lower than the limited experience to date, in the view of management, the rapid growth expected from the U.S. 

combined with the entry into New York, a new market, makes a conservative target appropriate. 
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Balancing adjustments for the year resulted in an increase in margin of $3.8 million. These reconciliations are performed on 

the annual anniversary of each customer contract. In various markets, balancing results when actual gas consumption is either 

less or greater than gas delivered, which is directed by the LDC. Balancing results in two effects: either excess or short gas 

inventory. Energy Savings receives payment once gas is delivered to the LDC. In the case of lower than expected consumption, 

Energy Savings must refund the LDC for any unconsumed gas. This excess gas can be sold in the open market only during 

times permitted by the LDC. Consequently there may be a timing difference when the two balancing effects occur affecting 

the quarterly balancing gain (loss). 

In the case of greater than expected gas consumption, Energy Savings must purchase the short supply at the market price which 

may reduce the margin Energy Savings would typically realize. Since excess gas was consumed by the customer, the LDC 

would forward these funds once the customer accounts are reconciled which may also result in a timing difference affecting the 

quarterly balancing gain (loss). 

While the Fund has operated in Illinois, Quebec and British Columbia for most of the fiscal year, due to normal delays between 

customer sign-up and cash flow receipt, margins from these markets only started to be recognized in the latter part of the year. 

Margin from the Alberta customers did not significantly contribute due to the fact that the customers were acquired on 

December 1, 2004 and new marketing commenced in mid-February 2005. 

Electricity 

Seasonally adjusted electricity margins for the year were $38.9 million, the same as on a financial statement basis. For additional 

information, see “Financial statements – Gross margin” section above. 

Electricity gross margin per RCE for 2005 amounted to $124, excluding the customers purchased through various acquisitions. 

This amount is above the prior year margin of $115/RCE and the target margin of $100/RCE. Including the low margin acquired 

customers, the margin per RCE was $96, higher than the margin of $90/RCE which was achieved in 2004. The increase over the 

prior year is attributable to lower margin customers not renewing their contracts at the end of their contract terms. 

Distributable cash 
Pre-marketing distributable cash for the year was $124.0 million ($1.17 per unit) up 7% from $116.0 million ($1.10 per unit) in the 

prior comparable year. Included in the fiscal 2005 payout ratios is a tax provision of $10.5 million. Excluding this provision, the 

payout ratios before and after selling expenses were 66% and 94%, respectively. The increase in pre-marketing distributable cash 

(seasonally adjusted) was primarily due to increased customer numbers in both gas and electricity resulting in a 20% year over 

year increase in gross margin. The increase in distributable cash before selling expense was less than the increase in margin due to 

the income taxes owing as well as higher general and administrative costs attributable to the Fund’s increased presence in Illinois 

and its expansion into the new markets of Quebec, British Columbia and Alberta as well as preparation for other new markets in 

the United States. These markets have not yet generated a material margin. See “General and administrative” and “Outlook”. 

Distributable cash after selling expenses (marketing costs) was $84.0 million for the year down from $85.9 million (2%) in the 

prior year. Successful customer aggregation, particularly in new markets, resulted in selling expenses increasing by 33% year 

over year. Cash flow from these new customers is realized three to nine months after signing depending on the market. 

Payout ratios before marketing costs were 72% for the year versus 65% for the prior comparative year, slightly higher than 

management’s target of 60% to 70%. After selling expenses, the payout ratio was 106% for the year versus 88% for the 

comparable year. As mentioned above, the increase in the payout ratios both before and after selling expenses is directly 

attributable to higher gross margin partially offset by the increase in income taxes. 
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Customer aggregation 
Long-term customers 
During the year, Energy Savings expanded its operations into three new provinces, Quebec, British Columbia and Alberta, 

as well as significantly increasing the size of its sales force in its first U.S. market, Illinois. 

Energy Savings entered the Alberta market through the acquisition of approximately 45,000 gas and 90,000 electricity RCEs 

from EPCOR. Management estimates that approximately 50% of the acquired customers will not renew upon expiration of their 

current contracts. Therefore, long-term customers have increased by 23,000 and 45,000 for gas and electricity, respectively, with 

the remaining RCEs being allocated to customers not expected to renew. 

Failed 
Beginning Additions Acquired Attrition3 to Renew4 Ending 

Gas 

Ontario 635,000 96,000 – (65,000) (22,000) 644,000 

New Markets – Canada1 10,000 89,000 23,0002 (4,000) – 118,000 

Illinois – 52,000 – (3,000) – 49,000 

Total – Gas 645,000 237,000 23,000 (72,000) (22,000) 811,000 

2004 536,000 146,000 43,000 (55,000) (25,000) 645,000 

Increase 26% 

Electricity 

Ontario 348,000 52,000 – (22,000) – 378,000 

Alberta – 1,000 45,0002 – – 46,000 

Total – Electricity 348,000 53,000 45,000 (22,000) – 424,000 

2004 154,000 149,000 60,000 (15,000) – 348,000 

Increase 22% 

Combined 

2005 993,000 290,000 68,000 (94,000) (22,000) 1,235,000 

2004 690,000 295,000 103,000 (70,000) (25,000) 993,000 

Increase 24% 

1Includes Quebec, British Columbia, Manitoba and Alberta.
 
2Energy Savings acquired approximately 23,000 gas and 45,000 electricity long-term RCEs from EPCOR. 

3Attrition – Customers whose contracts were terminated primarily due to relocation or death.
 
4Failed to renew – Customers who did not renew expiring contracts at the end of their term.
 

Key terms: 
Long-term customers – Customers that management expects to retain.
 

RCE – Residential customer equivalent or the “customer” which is a unit of measurement equivalent to a customer using, as regards natural gas,
 
2,815 m3 (or 106 GJs) of natural gas on an annual basis and, as regards electricity, 10,000 kWh of electricity on an annual basis, which represents
 
the approximate amount of gas and electricity used by a typical Ontario household.
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Customers not expected to renew 
In addition to the long-term customers, Energy Savings has an additional 98,000 customers (35,000 gas and 63,000 electricity) 

which were acquired through various acquisitions of customer contracts. Management believes that the vast majority of the 

customers in this category will not renew upon the expiration of their current contract. These customers generate substantially 

less margin than is typically realized on customers aggregated by Energy Savings and on average have approximately two years 

remaining until the end of their contract. Included in the above balance are 22,000 gas and 45,000 electricity customers from 

the Alberta acquisition from EPCOR that are in the “Not Expected to Renew” category. 

Attrition 
Attrition in the gas customer book for the year was 10%, on target with management’s estimates for planning purposes. Attrition 

for the electricity customer book was 6%, reflecting the fact that the majority of electricity customers are commercial, a group 

which has a much lower propensity to move. Overall, the combined annual attrition for both gas and electricity was below the 

10% customer attrition rate used for internal purposes. Management continues to monitor attrition to ensure its 10% rate remains 

appropriate for planning purposes. 

Renewals 
In 2005, Energy Savings implemented a multifaceted program aimed at maximizing the number of customers which renew at 

the end of their contract term. Efforts begin up to 15 months in advance with contracts proposing renewal of the existing 

agreements for an additional five years. To the extent customers do not renew under this recontracting program, additional 

processes such as mail and telemarketing renewals take place closer to the contract expiry date. Customers who do not positively 

elect either renewal or termination receive a one-year fixed price for the coming year. The table below shows the percentage of 

long-term customers up for renewal in each of the coming years. 

Fiscal Year Gas Electricity 

2006 8% 21% 

2007 14% 8% 

2008 15% 37% 

2009 20% 24% 

2010 38% 10% 

Beyond 2010 5% –% 

Total 100% 100% 

With the increased customer contracts now up for renewal, Energy Savings implemented a marketing program with an 

expectation of achieving an 80% customer renewal rate. Based on our experience to date and the marketing program, 

management believes that an 80% renewal target will be achieved. 
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Marketing (excluding acquisitions) 
Energy Savings’ published targets for fiscal 2005 were gross customer additions excluding acquisitions of 260,000 and net 

customer additions of 160,000. The following table shows the results of operations compared with these targets. 

Published 
Gross Customer Additions F2005 Target % Realized 

Gas 

Ontario 96,000 100,000 96% 

New markets – Canada 89,000 60,000 148% 

U.S. 52,000 50,000 104% 

Total 237,000 210,000 113% 

Electricity 53,000 50,000 106% 

Total – Gross additions 290,000 260,000 112% 

Total – Net additions 174,000 160,000 109% 

Gas 
Ontario 

Total gross customer additions in Ontario were 96,000, essentially on target. As was stated at the time the target was set, this 

level of growth in Ontario is expected to offset attrition and failure to renew. The success of other marketing programs and the 

relocation of selected agents to new markets detracted somewhat from Ontario gas additions. 

Management believes the Province of Ontario continues to be a growth market and the natural gas market continues to be 

receptive towards the Energy Savings’ product. It is anticipated that the number of new gas customer additions will continue 

to replace those lost through attrition and non-renewal. Ontario gas customers signed during the year were matched with 

supply to generate margins expected at or above Energy Savings’ $170 per year gas target margin. 

New markets – Canada 

Total customers aggregated in New markets – Canada were 89,000 for the year, surpassing the target of 60,000 gross RCEs 

(148%). New markets include the aggregation of customers outside the Province of Ontario, which presently includes customers 

in Manitoba, Quebec, British Columbia and Alberta. Energy Savings began offering its product in Manitoba in January 2003, 

Quebec in April 2004 and British Columbia in July 2004. Energy Savings entered the Alberta market in December 2004 through 

the acquisition of 23,000 long-term gas customers from EPCOR and began marketing efforts in February 2005. 

The book of customers acquired in Alberta generates margins which are lower than Energy Savings’ standard target margins. 

It is the Fund’s expectation that margins for renewing acquired customers or aggregating new customers in Alberta will be 

consistent with our target $170/RCE margin in the other Canadian markets. 

All new customers secured in Alberta will undergo a credit verification process. The historical default rate in Alberta for utility 

bills is approximately 0.8%. 
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New markets – U.S. 

Energy Savings aggregated 52,000 RCEs in the State of Illinois during the year, surpassing its target of 50,000 RCEs (104%). 


At the beginning of the year, there were 18 independent sales agents operating out of one sales office. By March 31, 2005, there
 

were 125 agents and three sales offices. In addition, a fourth office is expected to open in the first quarter of fiscal 2006. The
 

Illinois gas customers signed during the year were matched with supply to generate margins at or above our target of $170/RCE. 


The Illinois gas market requires Energy Savings to bear the credit risk associated with customers’ payment obligations. The
 

default payment rate in the Nicor territory is approximately 1.1%. Energy Savings maintains a strong credit approval process 


to mitigate the risk of customer non-payment. Even though the Fund has implemented a credit approval process, given 


Energy Savings is new to the Illinois marketplace, management has provided an allowance of approximately $0.1 million 


against potential uncollectible accounts.
 

Electricity 
Total gross electricity additions were 53,000 for the year, surpassing the published target of 50,000 (106%). In March 2005, 

Energy Savings announced that it will re-enter the Ontario small business and residential electricity markets. Energy Savings 

commenced marketing to the small commercial business segment in May 2005. It is expected that the residential market will 

be opened during fiscal 2006 once the Ontario Ministry of Energy specifies the effective date of new residential retail contracts. 

Energy Savings entered the Alberta electricity market through the acquisition of 45,000 long-term customers in December 2004. 

The Company began initial marketing under the Energy Savings brand in February 2005. 

The electricity customers signed during the year were matched with supply to generate margins expected at or above 

Energy Savings’ $100 per year target margin. 

General and administrative 
General and administrative costs were $29.0 million for the year. These costs represent an increase of 47% from fiscal 2004. 

The increase in general and administrative costs over the prior year was primarily driven by the costs associated with the 

expansion into new markets, including Quebec, British Columbia and Alberta, as well as planning costs for other new markets 

in the United States. Energy Savings has begun to prepare for entry into a second U.S. jurisdiction. Investments to support 

this expansion began in the fourth quarter of 2005 and will continue through the first and second quarters of fiscal 2006. 

Management believes it currently has the infrastructure in place to support the Fund’s continued growth in these new markets. 

Entry into a new market generally requires the addition of $2.0 million to $3.0 million in annual incremental general and 

administrative costs, the majority of which will be ongoing. 

Unit based compensation 
Compensation in the form of units (non-cash) granted by the Fund to the directors, officers, full-time employees and service 

providers of its subsidiaries and affiliates pursuant to the unit option plan, the unit appreciation rights plan and the directors’ 

deferred compensation plan amounted to $3.5 million for the year ended March 31, 2005 (2004 – $6.0 million). 

Class A preference share distributions 
Each of the holders of the OESC Class A preference shares is entitled to receive, on a quarterly basis, a management bonus 

equal to the amount paid or payable to a Unitholder on a comparable number of units. Total amounts paid during the year 

amounted to $9.1 million (2004 – $8.8 million). 

As a result of the adoption of EIC-151, these distributions are now reflected in the Statement of Unitholders’ equity of the Fund’s 

consolidated financial statements, net of their tax effect. 
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Income taxes 
Although higher revenues and income result in an increase in taxes, they provide an additional benefit to Unitholders. As was 

anticipated by management and due to the continued success within the Ontario market, Energy Savings had taxable income 

in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. A provision of $10.0 million relating to corporate tax liability was made in the fourth quarter 

of fiscal 2005. In previous years, Energy Savings utilized the deduction of various acquisition costs to reduce taxable income in 

addition to interest on intercompany debt. Management continues to investigate various tax minimizing strategies. For additional 

information, see the “Proposed reorganization” section below. 

Liquidity and capital resources 
During the year, OESC and USESC entered into a $60.0 million operating credit facility agreement with a group of financial 

institutions (the “lenders”) for a term of 364 days plus a one-year term-out option. All obligations under the former $10.0 million 

credit facility have been terminated and all outstanding letters of credit have been transferred to the new credit facility. As at year 

end, a total of $6.1 million in letters of credit have been issued. No amounts have been drawn against the operating credit facility 

as at March 31, 2005. 

To complement the new operating credit facility, Coral Energy Canada Inc. (“Coral”) and the lenders have entered into an 

intercreditor agreement whereby Coral and the lenders jointly hold security over a majority of the assets of Energy Savings. 

As Energy Savings continues to expand in the United States markets, Ontario electricity and Alberta there will be increased 

requirements to fund working capital and prudential requirements. These requirements are driven primarily by the number of 

customers aggregated and to a lesser degree by the number of new markets. Based on the new markets we are currently in and 

those we expect to enter, funding requirements will be supported through the bank facility. 

Primary sources of liquidity and capital resources for the Fund are monies generated from operations, cash on hand, the operating 

credit facility and the ability to issue units. These resources are used to satisfy our capital requirements, growth in operations and 

payment of Unitholder distributions. Cash inflow from operations before working capital totaled $80.7 million for the year 

ended March 31, 2005, essentially unchanged from the prior year. The increase in gross margin was offset partially by an 

increase in general and administrative costs associated with the expansion into new markets, an increase in marketing expenses 

to sign new customers and an increase in income taxes. 

During the year, Energy Savings acquired both gas and electricity long-term fixed price contracts in Alberta at a purchase price 

of $10.3 million, which was funded out of cash on hand. The primary uses of cash beyond selling costs and the acquisition of 

EPCOR customers were the Unitholder distributions totaling $89.2 million and general and administrative costs of $29.0 million. 

These uses of cash are consistent with the overall business strategy of the Fund. 

During the year AESLP entered into a prudential support agreement with EPCOR whereby EPCOR will post and monitor 

on behalf of AESLP any credit support requirements with the Alberta Electric System Operator, wire service providers and gas 

distributors. AESLP pays EPCOR a fee for the credit support service. To the extent that there would be a collateral call by 

the secured parties, AESLP would either post directly or reimburse EPCOR. During fiscal 2005 EPCOR provided on average 

$17 million in credit support to the various parties. 

At March 31, 2005, the Fund had a cash balance of $16.1 million. During the first quarter of fiscal 2006 management paid 

approximately $10.0 million ($0.5 million of installments was paid during fiscal 2005) of corporate taxes relating to income 

earned primarily in the fourth quarter of fiscal 2005. Furthermore, the Fund’s entry into new markets will require the utilization 

of the Fund’s accumulated cash resources to meet working capital requirements associated with selling costs and inventory 

storage requirements. The $60.0 million credit facility will also support the Fund in its expansion into new markets. 
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Energy Savings purchased capital assets totaling $5.6 million for fiscal 2005, compared with $4.0 million in the prior 

comparable year. The purchases were primarily for information technology systems supporting the Fund’s expanding customer 

base within the various geographical segments. 

In understanding the Fund’s liquidity requirements, it is important to note that customers aggregated in a quarter do not generate 

cash flow during that period. However, approximately 60% of an agent’s commission payment is made following reaffirmation of 

the customer contract with the remaining 40% being paid after the energy commodity begins flowing to the customer. 

The elapsed period between the times when a customer is signed to when the first payment is received from the customer varies 

with each market. The time delays per market are approximately: 

Gas 

Ontario 

Manitoba 

Quebec 

British Columbia 

Illinois 

Alberta 

Electricity 

4–5 months 

3–6 months 

4–5 months 

4–6 months 

2–3 months 

4–6 months 

Ontario 2–3 months 

Alberta 4–6 months 

These periods reflect the time required by the different LDCs to enroll, flow the commodity, bill the customer and remit the 

first payment to Energy Savings. 

Distributions 
During the year, the Fund made distributions of $89.2 million (including the management incentive program distributions) 

compared to $76.0 million in the prior year, an increase of 17%. Energy Savings will continue to utilize its cash resources for 

expansion into other U.S. markets as well as distributions to its Unitholders. The rapid pace of customer growth and corresponding 

selling expense and working capital requirements will be assessed in relation to the future distribution increases. Management 

continues to target its payout ratios before selling expenses in the range of 65% to 70%. 

At the end of the year, the annual rate for distributions per unit was $0.885. The distribution rate per unit was $0.775 at the 

beginning of the year. 

Balance sheet as at March 31, 2005 compared to 2004 
Cash decreased from $40.2 million to $16.1 million as a result of the expenses relating to the expansion into Quebec, 


British Columbia, Alberta and Illinois. In addition, the acquisition of the customer contracts from EPCOR for $10.3 million 


was funded out of cash on hand.
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The increase in accounts receivable from $18.6 million to $101.6 million and accounts payable from $13.3 million to 

$76.5 million is primarily attributable to the terms of the new operating credit facility. During the year, Coral and the lenders 

have entered into an intercreditor agreement whereby Coral and the lenders (the “Secured Creditors”) jointly hold security 

over a majority of the assets of the Fund. All LDC receipts are now directed to the Collateral Agent, one of the financial 

institutions in the syndicate. The Collateral Agent holds the monies in trust in a lock box account for the Secured Creditors. 

All commodity suppliers invoice Energy Savings directly. On a monthly basis, Energy Savings will direct the Collateral Agent 

to deduct the cost of commodity and related costs from the lock box account and remit the remaining proceeds to Energy 

Savings. This new arrangement will result in the increase in both accounts receivable and accounts payable. Under the previous 

Supplier arrangement, the net accounts receivable (Canadian LDC receipts less cost of supply) was remitted to Energy Savings 

on a monthly basis. This increase is simply an administrative reclassification and does not reflect an increase in risk for 

uncollectible amounts. 

At the end of the year, customers had consumed more gas than was supplied to the LDCs for their use. Since Energy Savings is 

paid for this gas when delivered yet recognizes revenue when the gas is consumed by the customer, the result on the balance 

sheet is the unbilled revenue amount of $50.5 million and accrued gas accounts payable of $40.9 million. The increase over the 

prior comparable amounts is a result of increased consumption due to a larger customer base. 

The carrying values of gas contracts and electricity contracts increased by $3.8 million and $6.5 million, respectively, as a result 

of the Alberta customer acquisition but were reduced by $49.1 million and $2.2 million, respectively, of non-cash amortization. 

Corporate taxes payable increased to $10.0 million in 2005, and as previously mentioned $0.5 million of installments were paid 

during the year. In prior years, Energy Savings was able to substantially reduce taxable income by the deduction of various 

acquisition costs. 

Other assets and liabilities represent the estimated fair value of various derivative financial instruments for which hedge accounting 

in accordance with CICA Accounting Guidelines 13 (“AcG-13”) “Hedging Relationships”, has not been applied. These assets 

and liabilities are marked to market and any changes to the fair value are recorded in other income (expense). Hedge accounting 

has been applied to the Fund’s electricity fixed-for-floating swaps which represent the majority of derivative instruments in terms 

of notional value. The gains or losses on these swaps are recognized as a component of cost of sales when the hedged electricity 

costs are incurred. See “Fair value of derivative instruments and risk management” for further details. 

Contractual obligations 
In the normal course of business, the Fund is obligated to make future payments. These obligations represent contracts and 

other commitments that are known and non-cancelable. 

Payments due by period 

(thousands of dollars) 

Less than 1–3 4–5 After 
Total  1  Year Years Years 5 Years 

Property & equipment lease agreements $ 12,507 $ 2,060 $ 4,163 $ 3,818 $ 2,466 

Marketing agreement obligations 4,082 2,041 2,041 – – 

EPCOR billing, collections & supply commitments 12,200 5,400 6,800 – – 

Gas & electricity supply purchase commitments 2,249,567 763,842 1,077,305 395,843 12,577 

$ 2,278,356 $ 773,343 $ 1,090,309 $ 399,661 $ 15,043 
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Alberta services agreements 
During the year, Energy Savings through its subsidiary, AESLP, entered into a long-term arrangement with subsidiaries of 

EPCOR. The arrangement includes a five-year Master Services Agreement, a Wholesale Natural Gas and Financial Electricity 

Swap Agreement, a Prudential Support Agreement and supply agreements (as a result of the acquired customers). As specified 

in these agreements, on behalf of AESLP, EPCOR will: 

1.	 Provide gas and electricity supply up to a predetermined volume threshold for future marketing requirements in addition to 

providing the energy supply for the acquired customers; 

2.	 Post and monitor any credit support requirements with the Alberta Electric System Operator (“AESO”), wire service providers 

and gas distributors. AESLP will pay EPCOR a fee for the credit support services. If and to the extent that there is a collateral 

call by the secured parties, AESLP will either post directly or reimburse EPCOR; and 

3.	 Provide customer call center services, financial reporting and reconciliation, customer enrollment and billing and collection 

services. The services will be provided for customers secured in the Province of Alberta only. Energy Savings has established 

defined performance levels for each of the service areas. To the extent service levels are not achieved, AESLP has the right to 

certain payments or to terminate the Master Services Agreement. 

Other obligations 
The Fund is also subject to certain contingent obligations that become payable only if certain events or rulings were to occur. The 

inherent uncertainty surrounding the timing and financial impact of these events or rulings prevents any meaningful measurement, 

which is necessary to assess any material impact on future liquidity. Such obligations include potential judgments, settlements, fines, 

and other penalties resulting from lawsuits, claims or proceedings. In the opinion of management, the Fund has no material pending 

lawsuits, claims or proceedings which have not been either included in its accrued liabilities or in the financial statements. 

Transactions with related parties 
Energy Savings entered into Marketing Fee Payment Agreements (“Marketing Agreements”) with three officers. The Marketing 

Agreements expire, at the earliest, on March 31, 2007. Each person is entitled to receive annual marketing fees or commissions 

equal to the greater of an individual’s percentage of Energy Savings’ incremental gross margin and an individual’s specified 

guaranteed amount, payable on March 31 in each year, as to, 50% in cash and 50% in fully paid unit appreciation rights (“UARs”) 

which vest on the first, second and third anniversary day of the grant date when they become exchangeable for units on a one for 

one basis. In the event of a change of control: i) each officer is entitled to a lump sum payment declining to zero at March 31, 2007 

and ii) all UARs vest and are exchangeable into units on a one for one basis. For the year ended March 31, 2005, non-cash 

payments to the three officers amounted to $1.4 million. 

Proposed reorganization 
Due to the success of the business and customer aggregation levels, OESC generates significant cash flows resulting in taxable 

income. The current organizational structure of the Fund creates the potential for corporate income taxation at the OESC 

level, which could reduce future cash flows available for the Fund to distribute to its Unitholders. 

The proposed reorganization is intended to create a flow-through structure which effectively results in distributions received 

from OESC not being taxed at the corporation level. Instead, distributions received by the Fund would be taxed at the Unitholder 

level once the distributions are paid to the Unitholder. The proposed reorganization amends the current structure from a “trust 

on corporation” structure to a “trust on trust on partnership” structure. 
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The reorganization is contingent on the following: a favorable advance tax ruling from the Canada Revenue Agency; approval 

by 66 2⁄3% of votes cast by Unitholders at the Annual and Special Meeting of Unitholders to be held on June 29, 2005; and 

certain other judicial, regulatory and third party approvals. In addition, the trustee, OESC, may decide not to proceed with the 

reorganization should factors or events occur that, in the opinion of OESC, would reduce or eliminate the expected benefits 

of the reorganization. Such conditions, factors and events as well as information regarding the reorganization are described in 

detail in the Fund’s Management Information Circular dated May 20, 2005, which can be accessed at www.sedar.com. 

Critical accounting estimates 
The consolidated financial statements of the Fund have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. Certain accounting policies 

require management to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, cost of 

sales and selling and general and administrative expenses. Estimates are based on historical experience, current information and 

various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The emergence of new information and 

changed circumstances may result in actual results or changes to estimated amounts that differ materially from current estimates. 

The following assessment of critical accounting estimates is not meant to be exhaustive. The Fund might realize different results 

from the application of new accounting standards promulgated, from time to time, by various rule-making bodies. 

Unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable 
Unbilled revenues result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Energy Savings to the LDCs. These 

estimates are stated at net realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents Energy Savings’ obligation to the LDC with 

respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered. This obligation is also valued at net realizable value. This 

estimate is required for the gas business unit only, since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses 

the current average customer contract price and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues 
Gas delivered to LDCs in excess of consumption by customers is valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Collections 

from LDCs in advance of their consumption result in deferred revenues which are valued at net realizable value. This estimate 

is required for the gas business unit only since electricity is consumed at the same time as delivery. Management uses the current 

average customer contract price and the current average supply cost as a basis for the valuation. 

Goodwill 
In assessing the value of goodwill for potential impairment, assumptions are made regarding Energy Savings’ future cash flows. 

If the estimates change in the future, the Fund may be required to record impairment charges related to goodwill. An impairment 

review of goodwill was performed during fiscal 2005 and, as a result of the review, it was determined that no impairment of goodwill 

existed at March 31, 2005. 

http:www.sedar.com
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Fair value of derivative instruments and risk management 
The Fund has entered into a variety of derivative instruments as part of the business of purchasing and selling gas and 

electricity. Energy Savings enters into contracts with customers to provide electricity and gas at fixed prices. These contracts 

expose Energy Savings to changes in market prices to supply these commodities. To reduce the exposure to the commodity 

market price changes, Energy Savings uses derivative financial and physical contracts to secure fixed price commodity 

supply matching its delivery obligations. 

The Fund’s business model objective is to minimize commodity risk other than consumption, usually attributable to weather. 

Accordingly, it is Energy Savings’ policy to hedge the estimated requirements of its customers with offsetting volumes of natural 

gas and electricity at fixed prices for terms equal to those of the customer contracts. 

The Fund is also planning further expansion into the United States marketplace. This will introduce foreign exchange related 

risks. Similar to the gas and electricity commodities, it is the intent of Energy Savings to hedge this exposure through the use of 

foreign exchange strategies. There are currently no derivative instruments in place as all monies generated from U.S. operations 

have been redeployed to fund continued operations and further expansion. 

The estimation of the fair value of certain electricity and gas supply contracts requires considerable judgment. The estimation 

of the fair value is based on market prices or management’s best estimates if there is no market and/or if the market is illiquid. 

Effective April 1, 2004, the Fund adopted AcG-13, “Hedging Relationships”. AcG-13 establishes criteria to be satisfied before 

hedge accounting may be applied. 

Adoption of new accounting policies 
Employee future benefits 
Energy Savings established a long-term incentive plan (the “Plan”) for all permanent full-time and part-time Canadian employees. 

The Plan consists of two components, a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan (“DPSP”) and an Employee Profit Sharing Plan (“EPSP”). 

For participants of the DPSP, Energy Savings contributes an amount equal to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s 

base earnings. For the EPSP, Energy Savings contributes an amount up to a maximum of 2% per annum of an employee’s base 

earnings towards the purchase of trust units of the Fund, on a matching one for one basis. The Plan has a two-year vesting 

period beginning from the later of the Plan’s effective date and the employee’s starting date. During the year Energy Savings 

contributed $0.4 million to both plans, which was paid in full during the year. 

Other assets (liabilities) 
Energy Savings’ various derivative financial instruments have been accounted for under AcG-13, where they meet the guideline’s 

criteria and otherwise have been recognized at fair value in the financial statements in accordance with EIC-128, “Accounting 

for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging Derivative Financial Instruments”. 

Energy Savings enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixed price electricity sales by entering into fixed-for-floating 

electricity swap contracts with electricity suppliers. Energy Savings uses the settlement method of hedge accounting for these 

swap contracts whereby the gain or loss incurred upon settlement is recognized in cost of sales. The timing of these settlements 

matches the timing of the recognition of the anticipated electricity sales which these swaps hedge. Changes in the fair value of 

these swaps are not recognized in the financial statements. 
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Consolidated statements of Unitholders’ equity 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

2005 2004 

Restated 
Note 4 

Unitholders’ equity, beginning of year $ 206,401 $ 243,535 

Trust unit options exercised 15,379 14,379 

Net income 37,205 23,015 

Distributions on units (80,073) (67,147) 

Class A preference share distributions, net of tax 

(gross distributions of $9,088; 2004 – $8,802) (Note 12) (5,806) (5,623) 

Class B preference share distributions – (1,758) 

Unitholders’ equity, end of year $ 173,106 $ 206,401 

Consolidated statements of operations 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars except per unit amounts) 

2005 2004 

Restated 
Note 4 

Sales $ 920,913 $ 733,104 

Cost of sales 754,664 604,055 

Gross margin 166,249 129,049 

Expenses 

General and administrative expenses 28,905 19,684 

Capital tax 704 1,198 

Selling expenses 39,994 30,175 

Unit based compensation (Note 13) 3,462 5,980 

Amortization of gas contracts 49,120 54,823 

Amortization of electricity contracts 2,150 890 

Amortization of capital assets 1,856 1,070 

126,191 113,820 

Income before other income 40,058 15,229 

Other income 2,068 514 

Income before income tax 42,126 15,743 

Provision for (recovery of) income tax (Note 9) 4,921 (7,272) 

Net income $ 37,205 $ 23,015 

Net income per unit (Note 15) 

Basic $ 0.36 $ 0.23 

Diluted $ 0.35 $ 0.22 
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Consolidated statements of cash flows 
For the years ended March 31 

(thousands of dollars) 

2005 2004 

Restated 
Note 4 

NET INFLOW (OUTFLOW) OF CASH RELATED TO THE FOLLOWING ACTIVITIES 

Operating 

Net income $ 37,205 $ 23,015 

Items not affecting cash 

Amortization of gas contracts 

Amortization of electricity contracts 

Amortization of capital assets 

Unit based compensation 

Loss on disposal of capital assets 

Future income taxes 

Loss on foreign exchange (unrealized) 

Other income (unrealized) 

49,120 

2,150 

1,856 

3,462 

– 

(8,836) 

583 

(2,258) 

46,077 

54,823 

890 

1,070 

5,980 

5 

(10,850) 

30 

– 

51,948 

Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales (Note 20) 

Cash inflow from operations before changes in working capital 

Changes in non-cash working capital (Note 21) 

Cash inflow from operations 

(2,551) 

80,731 

(13,589) 

67,142 

5,210 

80,173 

412 

80,585 

Financing 

Exercise of trust unit options (Note 13) 

Distributions paid to Unitholders 

Distributions paid to Class A preference shareholders 

Tax effect on distributions paid to Class A preference shareholders 

10,172 

(79,134) 

(9,088) 

3,282 

(74,768) 

11,136 

(65,884) 

(8,802) 

3,179 

(60,371) 

Investing 

Purchase of capital assets 

Acquisition of customer contracts 

Proceeds on disposal of capital assets 

Loss on foreign exchange (unrealized) 

(5,642) 

(10,332) 

– 

(15,974) 

(583) 

(4,016) 

(10,663) 

14 

(14,665) 

(30) 

Net cash inflow (outflow) 

Cash, beginning of year 

(24,183) 

40,241 

5,519 

34,722 

Cash, end of year 

Supplemental information 

Interest paid 

Income taxes paid 

$ 

$ 

$ 

16,058 

104 

907 

$ 

$ 

$ 

40,241 

111 

575 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements 
For the years ended March 31
 

(thousands of dollars except per unit amounts)
 

1. Organization 
Energy Savings Income Fund (“Energy Savings” or the “Fund”) 
Energy Savings is an open-ended, limited-purpose trust established under the laws of the Province of Ontario to hold 

securities and to distribute the income of its wholly owned subsidiaries: Ontario Energy Savings Corp. (“OESC”), 

Energy Savings (Manitoba) Corp. (“ESMC”), Energy Savings (Quebec) L.P. (“ESPQ”), ES (B.C.) Limited Partnership 

(“ESBC”), Alberta Energy Savings L.P. (“AESLP”) and U.S. Energy Savings Corp. (“USESC”), (collectively the 

“Energy Savings Group”). 

OESC Exchangeco Inc. (“Exchangeco II”) 
Exchangeco II was incorporated on February 23, 2005 prior to the amalgamation of OESC and OESC Exchange Inc. on 

March 1, 2005. Exchangeco II’s purpose is to facilitate the transfer of units to the holders of Class A preference shares of 

OESC upon the exercise of the shareholder exchange rights to which the preference shareholders are entitled under the 

terms of the OESC shareholders’ agreement. Exchangeco II is consolidated within the Fund’s financial statements. 

2. Operations 
Energy Savings Group 
Energy Savings’ business involves the sale of long-term, irrevocable fixed price contracts. Through its subsidiaries and 

affiliates, Energy Savings sells natural gas to residential customers and small to mid-sized commercial businesses in Ontario, 

Manitoba, Alberta and Illinois and solely to commercial customers in Quebec and British Columbia. Energy Savings also 

sells electricity to small and mid-sized commercial and small industrial customers in Ontario and Alberta, including 

residential customers in Alberta. 

By fixing the price of gas or electricity under fixed price contracts up to a period of five years, customers eliminate their 

exposure to price escalations for the commodity. It is the Fund’s policy to match the estimated requirements of its customers 

by purchasing offsetting physical or notional volumes of gas and electricity from suppliers at fixed prices for the term of its 

related customer contracts. The Fund derives its gross margin from the difference between the fixed price at which it is 

able to sell the commodities to its customers and the fixed price at which it purchases the matching physical or notional 

volumes from its suppliers. 
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies 
(a) Principles of consolidation 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles, and include the accounts of Energy Savings Income Fund and its wholly owned subsidiaries. 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 
All highly liquid temporary cash investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased are 

considered to be cash equivalents. 

(c)	 Unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable or 

gas delivered in excess of consumption/deferred revenues
 
Unbilled revenues result when customers consume more gas than has been delivered by Energy Savings to local 

distribution companies and are stated at estimated realizable value. Accrued gas accounts payable represents the 

obligation to the local distribution companies with respect to gas consumed by customers in excess of that delivered 

to the local distribution companies. 

Gas delivered to local distribution companies in excess of consumption by customers is stated at the lower of cost and 

net realizable value. Collections from customers in advance of their consumption of gas result in deferred revenues. 

Due to the seasonality of our operations, during the winter months customers will have consumed more than what 

was delivered resulting in the recognition of unbilled revenues/accrued gas accounts payable; however, in the summer 

months customers will have consumed less than what was delivered resulting in the recognition of gas delivered in 

excess of consumption/deferred revenues. 

(d) Gas in storage 
Gas in storage represents the gas delivered to Nicor (the “Illinois LDC”). The balance will fluctuate as gas is injected 

or withdrawn from storage. Injections typically occur from April through September and withdrawals occur from 

October through March. Gas in storage is stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. 

(e) Capital assets 
Capital assets are recorded at cost. Amortization is provided over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

Asset	 Basis Rate 

Furniture and fixtures Declining balance 20%
 

Office equipment Declining balance 20%
 

Computer equipment Declining balance 30%
 

Commodity billing and settlement systems Straight line 5 years
 

Leasehold improvements Straight line Term of lease
 

(f) Asset retirement obligation
 
Asset retirement obligations, including any restoration costs required in connection with leased assets or properties,
 

are recognized at fair value in the period in which the obligations are incurred and a reasonable estimate of fair
 

value can be made. Energy Savings did not have any such obligations outstanding for the years ended March 31,
 

2005 and 2004.
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(g)	 Goodwill 
Goodwill, reflecting the excess of the acquisition and incremental costs over the fair value of assets purchased by the 

Fund, is not amortized. The carrying amount of goodwill is tested annually for impairment and is written down if 

impairment is determined. 

(h) Gas contracts 
Gas contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Energy Savings on 

the acquisition of various gas contracts. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated remaining life. 

(i)	 Electricity contracts 
Electricity contracts represent the original fair value of existing sales and supply contracts acquired by Energy Savings 

on the acquisition of various electricity contracts. These contracts are amortized over their average estimated 

remaining life. 

(j)	 Other assets (liabilities) 
Energy Savings’ various derivative financial instruments have been accounted for under AcG-13, “Hedging 

Relationships”, where they meet the guideline’s criteria and otherwise have been recognized at fair value in the 

financial statements in accordance with EIC-128, “Accounting for Trading, Speculative or Non-Hedging 

Derivative Financial Instruments”. 

For derivative financial instruments accounted for under AcG-13, Energy Savings formally documents the relationship 

between hedging instruments and the hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for 

undertaking various hedge transactions. This process includes linking all derivative financial instruments to 

anticipated transactions. Energy Savings also formally assesses, both at the hedge’s inception and on an ongoing 

basis, whether the derivative financial instruments that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective in 

offsetting changes in cash flows of the hedged items. 

Energy Savings enters into hedges of its cost of sales relating to its fixed price electricity sales by entering into 

fixed-for-floating electricity swap contracts with electricity suppliers. Energy Savings uses the settlement method of 

hedge accounting for these swap contracts whereby the gain or loss incurred upon settlement is recognized in cost 

of sales. The timing of these settlements matches the timing of the recognition of the anticipated electricity sales 

which these swaps hedge. Changes in the fair value of these swaps are not recognized in the financial statements. 

Derivative financial instruments accounted for in accordance with EIC-128 have been entered into for the purpose 

of economically hedging the cost of sales relating to Energy Savings’ fixed price gas sales. These derivative financial 

instruments have been recorded on the balance sheet as either other assets or other liabilities measured at fair value, 

with changes in fair value recognized in income as other income (expense). These changes in fair value may be 

referred to as marked to market gains (losses). In addition, the premiums and settlements for these derivative 

financial instruments are recognized in cost of sales, when incurred. 
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(k) Derivative instruments and hedge accounting 
Electricity 

Energy Savings has entered into contracts with customers to provide electricity at fixed prices (“customer electricity 

contracts”). Customer electricity contracts include requirements contracts and contracts with fixed or variable 

volumes at fixed prices. The customer electricity contracts expose Energy Savings to changes in market prices of 

electricity and consumption. To reduce its exposure to movements in commodity prices arising from the acquisition 

of electricity at floating rates, Energy Savings uses electricity derivative financial contracts (“electricity derivative 

contracts”). These electricity derivative contracts are fixed-for-floating swaps whereby Energy Savings agrees to 

exchange the difference between the variable or indexed price and the fixed price on a notional quantity of electricity 

for a specified time frame. These contracts are expected to be effective as hedges of the electricity price exposure. 

Energy Savings continues to monitor its effective hedging relationship between retail consumption and its 


supply contracts.
 

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on electricity derivative contracts designated as hedging instruments are 

deferred and recognized over the term of the contract based on the timing of the underlying hedged transactions 

and are recorded in cost of sales. Any electricity derivative contracts which do not qualify for hedge accounting or are 

dedesignated as a hedge are recorded at fair market value with the changes in fair value recorded in current period 

income as a component of other income (loss). Any gains or losses accumulated up to the date that the electricity 

derivative contract is terminated or dedesignated as a hedge are deferred and recorded in cost of sales when the 

hedged customer electricity contract affects income. Electricity supply contracts are recorded in cost of sales when 

the physical electricity is purchased. Any gains and losses on early settlement of these contracts are recorded 

immediately in other income (loss). 

Gas 

Energy Savings has entered into contracts with customers to provide gas at fixed prices (“customer gas contracts”). 

The customer gas contracts expose Energy Savings to changes in market prices of gas and consumption. To reduce 

its exposure to movements in commodity prices and usage, Energy Savings uses gas physical and financial contracts 

(“gas supply contracts”). These gas supply contracts are expected to be effective as hedges of the gas price exposure. 

Energy Savings continues to monitor its effective hedging relationship between retail consumption and its 


supply contracts.
 

Energy Savings uses physical forwards (“physical gas supply contracts”), financial fixed-for-floating gas swaps 

and other gas financial instruments to fix the price of its gas supply. Under the physical gas supply contracts, 

Energy Savings agrees to pay a specified price per volume of gas or transportation. Under the financial fixed-for­

floating swaps, Energy Savings agrees to exchange the difference between the variable or indexed price and the 

fixed price on a notional quantity of natural gas for a specified time frame. Other financial instruments are comprised 

primarily of financial puts and calls that fix the price of gas in jurisdictions where Energy Savings has scheduling 

responsibilities and therefore is exposed to commodity price risk on volumes above or below its base supply. 
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Realized and unrealized gains and losses on financial gas supply contracts designated as hedging instruments are 

deferred and recognized over the term of the contract based on the timing of the underlying hedged transactions 

and are recorded in cost of sales. Any contracts which do not qualify for hedge accounting or are dedesignated as a 

hedge are valued at fair market value with the changes in fair value recorded in current period income as a component 

of other income. Any gains or losses accumulated up to the date that the financial gas supply contract is terminated 

or dedesignated as a hedge are deferred and recorded in cost of sales when the hedged customer gas contract 

affects income. Physical gas supply contracts are recorded in cost of sales when the physical gas is purchased. 

Any gains and losses on early settlement of these contracts are recorded immediately in other income. 

(l)	 Revenue recognition 
Energy Savings delivers gas and/or electricity to end-use customers who have entered into irrevocable long-term 

fixed price contracts. Revenue is recognized when the commodity is consumed by the end-use customer or sold to 

third parties. The Fund assumes credit risk in only two jurisdictions – Alberta and Illinois – where credit review 

processes are in place prior to commodity flowing to the customer. 

(m) Selling expenses 
Commissions and various other costs related to obtaining and renewing customer contracts are charged to income in 

the period incurred. 

(n) Foreign currency translation 
Energy Savings’ currency of measurement in its consolidated financial statements is the Canadian dollar. All U.S. 

subsidiaries are considered integrated. Monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the exchange rates in effect at 

the consolidated balance sheet dates. Non-monetary assets and liabilities and related income statement charges are 

translated at historical rates. All other revenue and expense accounts are translated at the average rate for the year. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses are included in net income for the year. 

(o) Per unit amounts 
The computation of income per unit is based on the weighted average number of units outstanding during the year. 

Energy Savings has adopted EIC-151, “Exchangeable Securities Issued by Subsidiaries of Income Trusts”, effective 

April 1, 2004. All comparative amounts have been restated to reflect the new accounting policy. See Note 4 for 

further details. 

(p) Unit based compensation 
The Fund accounts for all of its unit based compensation awards using the fair value based method. 

Awards are valued at grant date and are not subsequently adjusted for changes in the prices of the underlying unit 

and other measurement assumptions. Compensation for awards without performance conditions is recognized as an 

expense and a credit to contributed surplus over the related vesting period of the awards. Compensation for awards 

with performance conditions is recognized based on management’s best estimate of whether the performance 

condition will be achieved. 

When options related to the Fund’s unit based compensation are exercised, the amounts previously credited to 

contributed surplus are reversed and credited to Unitholders’ equity. The amount of cash received from participants 

is also credited to Unitholders’ equity. 
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(q) Employee future benefits 
During the year, Energy Savings established a long-term incentive plan (the “Plan”) for all permanent full-time and 

part-time Canadian employees (working more than 20 hours per week) of its affiliates and subsidiaries. The Plan 

consists of two components, a Deferred Profit Sharing Plan (“DPSP”) and an Employee Profit Sharing Plan (“EPSP”). 

For participants of the DPSP, Energy Savings contributes an amount equal to a maximum of 2% per annum of an 

employee’s base earnings. For the EPSP, Energy Savings contributes an amount up to a maximum of 2% per annum 

of an employee’s base earnings towards the purchase of trust units of the Fund, on a matching one for one basis. 

Participation in either plan is voluntary. The Plan has a two-year vesting period beginning from the later of the Plan’s 

effective date and the employee’s starting date. During the year Energy Savings contributed $367 to both plans, 

which was paid in full during the year. 

(r) Use of estimates 
The preparation of the financial statements, in conformity with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, 

requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements 

and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates. In particular, valuation techniques such as 

those used in the preparation of fair values are significantly affected by the assumptions used and the amount and 

timing of estimates. The aggregate fair value amounts represent point in time estimates only and should not be 

interpreted as being realizable in an immediate settlement of the supply contracts. 

4. Change in accounting policy 
Exchangeable securities 
During the year, Energy Savings adopted EIC-151, relating to the presentation of exchangeable securities issued by 

subsidiaries of income funds. The new recommendations require that the exchangeable securities issued by a subsidiary 

of an income fund be presented on the consolidated balance sheet of the income fund as a part of Unitholders’ equity if 

the following criteria have been met: 

■	 the holders of the exchangeable securities are entitled to receive distributions of earnings economically equivalent to 

distributions received by units of the income fund; and 

■	 the exchangeable securities ultimately are required to be exchanged for units of the income fund as a result of the 

passage of a fixed period of time or the non-transferability to third parties of the exchangeable securities without first 

exchanging them for units of the income fund. 

The Class A preference shares in the amount of $25,422 (2004 – $29,078) meet these criteria and have been reclassified 

as Unitholders’ equity. Previously, these preference shares were identified as a separate class of shares within the equity 

section of the balance sheet. This recommendation is applied retroactively with restatement of prior periods. 
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This change has also resulted in the reclassification of $5,806 (2004 – $5,623) net of tax of the management incentive 

program (a form of distribution) paid to Class A preference shareholders from the income statement to Unitholders’ equity. 

Gross distributions paid to Class A preference shareholders amounted to $9,088 in 2005 (2004 – $8,802). This change in 

accounting policy resulted in an increase in net income for the year ended March 31, 2004 in the amount of $5,623. 

The management incentive program is a special bonus paid quarterly in arrears to Class A preference shareholders. The 

bonus is equal to the distribution amount received by a Unitholder. The management incentive program is additional 

compensation paid to senior management of OESC (Class A preference shareholders) and is deductible for tax purposes. 

5.	 Seasonality of operations 
Energy Savings’ operations are seasonal. Gas consumption by customers is typically highest in October through March 

and lowest in April through September. Electricity consumption is typically highest in January through March and July 

through September. Electricity consumption is lowest in October through December and April through June. 

6.	 Restricted cash/customer rebates payable 
Restricted cash and customer rebates payable represent rebate monies received from local distribution companies 

(“LDCs”) in Ontario as provided by the Independent Market Operator. OESC is obligated to disperse the monies to 

eligible end-use customers in accordance with the Market Power Mitigation Agreement as part of OESC’s Electricity 

Retailer License conditions. 

7.	 Acquisitions of customer contracts 
(a) Acquisition of EPCOR Utilities Inc.’s gas and electricity contracts 

On December 1, 2004, Energy Savings purchased, effective November 1, 2004, approximately 45,000 residential 

customer equivalents (“RCEs”) of deregulated gas customers and 90,000 RCEs of deregulated electricity customers 

from EPCOR Utilities Inc. (“EPCOR”), the Edmonton based integrated energy services and utility holding 

company, for $10,332. 

The purchase price has been allocated as follows: 

Assets acquired 

Gas contracts 

Electricity contracts 

$ 

$ 

3,836 

6,496 

10,332 

Consideration 

Cash $ 10,332 

The entire purchase price will be amortized over the average remaining life of the contracts, which at the time of 

acquisition was 2.5 years. 
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(b) Acquisition of Union Energy Inc.’s gas contracts 
On October 16, 2003, Energy Savings purchased, effective August 1, 2003, approximately 20,000 deregulated gas 

residential customer equivalents as well as the associated gas supply from Union Energy Inc., a marketing subsidiary 

of EPCOR Utilities Inc., for $4,128. 

The purchase price has been allocated as follows: 

Assets acquired 

Gas contracts $ 4,128 

Consideration 

Cash $ 4,128 

The entire purchase price will be amortized over the average remaining life of the contracts, which at the time of 

acquisition was 3.5 years. 

(c) Acquisition of Toronto Hydro Energy Services Inc.’s gas contracts 
On July 31, 2003, Energy Savings purchased, effective June 1, 2003, approximately 31,500 deregulated gas fixed price 

customer contracts from Toronto Hydro Energy Services Inc. for $1,197. 

The purchase price has been allocated as follows: 

Assets acquired 

Gas contracts $ 1,197 

Consideration 

Cash $ 1,197 

The entire purchase price will be amortized over the average remaining life of the contracts, which at the time of 

acquisition was 1.5 years. 

(d) Acquisition of First Source Energy Corp.’s electricity contracts 
On May 21, 2003, Energy Savings purchased, effective May 1, 2003, fixed price electricity contracts from 

First Source Energy Corp. for $5,338. Pursuant to the agreement, Energy Savings acquired approximately 

113,000 residential customer equivalents. 

The purchase price has been allocated as follows: 

Assets acquired 

Electricity contracts $ 5,338 

Consideration 

Cash $ 5,338 

The entire purchase price will be amortized over the average remaining life of the contracts, which at the time of 

acquisition was 5 years. 
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8. Capital assets 

2005 Cost 
Accumulated 
Amortization 

Net 
Book Value 

Furniture and fixtures 

Office equipment 

Computer equipment 

Commodity billing and settlement system 

Leasehold improvements 

$ 

$ 

2,014 

1,664 

2,438 

5,120 

2,601 

13,837 

$ 461 

399 

938 

1,116 

644 

$ 3,558 

$ 1,553 

1,265 

1,500 

4,004 

1,957 

$ 10,279 

The commodity billing and settlement system includes costs that have been capitalized but not yet amortized in the 

amount of $471. These costs will be amortized when the related system is out of development and available for use. 

Accumulated Net 
2004 Cost Amortization Book Value 

Furniture and fixtures $ 863 $ 218 $ 645 

Office equipment 1,288 190 1,098 

Computer equipment 1,932 577 1,355 

Commodity billing and settlement system 2,419 386 2,033 

Leasehold improvements 1,693 331 1,362 

$ 8,195 $ 1,702 $ 6,493 

During 2004, Energy Savings disposed of assets with cost and accumulated amortization balances of $29 and $10, respectively. 

This resulted in a loss on disposal in the amount of $5. Energy Savings did not dispose of any assets in 2005. 
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9.	 Income taxes 
The Fund is taxed as a “mutual fund trust” for income tax purposes. Pursuant to the Declaration of Trust, the trustee 

will distribute all taxable income directly earned by the trust to the Unitholders and deduct such distributions for 

income tax purposes. 

Canadian based corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 36% (2004 – 36%). 

The following table reconciles the difference between the income taxes that would result solely by applying statutory tax 

rates to the pre-tax income for Energy Savings and the income tax provision in the financial statements. 

2005 2004 

Restated 
Note 4 

Net income before income tax	 $ 42,126 $ 15,743 

Income tax expense at the combined basic rate of 36% (2004 – 36%) 15,165 5,667
 

Taxes on income attributable to Unitholders (13,501) (18,329)
 

Large corporations tax – 485
 

Benefit of U.S. accounting losses not recognized 842 –
 

Non-deductible expenses 2,415 2,165
 

Increase/reduction in future income taxes resulting from change in tax rate – 2,740
 

Income tax provision (recovery)	 $ 4,921 $ (7,272) 

Components of Energy Savings’ net future income tax liability are as follows: 

2005 2004 

Restated 
Note 4 

Carrying value of gas and electricity contracts in excess of tax value $ 15,700 $ 29,350
 

Other 5,320 506
 

$ 21,020 $ 29,856 

U.S. based corporate subsidiaries are subject to tax on their taxable income at a rate of 40% (2004 – 40%). At March 31, 2005, 

the U.S. subsidiaries of Energy Savings had $4,000 in combined operating losses available to be carried forward until 2025 

to reduce taxable income. The tax benefit of these losses has not been recognized in these financial statements. 

Future taxes of $3,282 relating to the reclassification of the distribution paid to Class A preference shareholders have been 

credited to the Unitholders’ equity at March 31, 2005 (2004 – $3,179). 
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10.	 Related party transaction 
On April 1, 2003, Energy Savings entered into Marketing Fee Payment Agreements (“Marketing Agreements”) with three 

officers through its subsidiary OESC (see Note 18b). The Marketing Agreements expire, at the earliest, on March 31, 2007. 

Each person is entitled to receive annual marketing fees or commissions equal to the greater of an individual’s percentage 

of Energy Savings’ incremental gross margin and an individual’s specified guaranteed amount, payable on March 31 in 

each year, as to, 50% in cash and 50% in fully paid unit appreciation rights (“UARs”), which vest on the first, second and 

third anniversary day of the grant date when they become exchangeable into units on a one for one basis. In the event of a 

change of control: i) each officer is entitled to a lump sum payment declining to zero at March 31, 2007 and ii) all UARs 

vest and are exchangeable into units on a one for one basis. For the year ended March 31, 2005, cash payments to the 

three officers amounted to $1,425 (2004 – $1,425). 

11.	 Unit and share split 
On January 20, 2004, the Board of Directors approved a subdivision of the Fund’s units on a two for one basis. All 

information relating to units and per unit data, including comparative figures, has been adjusted retroactively to reflect 

the impact of the unit split in these consolidated financial statements. Trading of the units on a split basis became effective 

on January 30, 2004. On January 20, 2004, a certificate of amendment was issued to OESC subdividing on a two for one 

basis all of its outstanding common shares and Class A preference shares. All Class B preference shares were exchanged 

for units prior to the two for one split. 

12.	 Unitholders’ equity 
As explained in Note 4, the Fund adopted EIC-151 relating to the exchangeable securities issued by subsidiaries of an 

income fund. As a result of the adoption of this policy, the Preference shares of OESC have been reclassified to the 

Statement of Unitholders’ equity. Distributions paid to the holders of Class A preference shares have also been reclassified 

to Unitholders’ equity net of tax. 

Trust units of the Fund 
An unlimited number of units may be issued. Each unit is transferable, voting and represents an equal undivided beneficial 

interest in any distributions from the Fund whether of net income, net realized capital gains or other amounts, and in the 

net assets of the Fund in the event of termination or winding-up of the Fund. 

Preference shares of OESC 
Unlimited Class A preference shares are non-voting for OESC, non-cumulative and exchangeable into trust units in 

accordance with the OESC shareholders’ agreement, with no priority on dissolution. Pursuant to the amended and restated 

Declaration of Trust which governs the Fund, the holders of Class A preference shares are entitled to vote in all votes of 

Unitholders as if they were the holders of the number of units which they would receive if they exercised their shareholder 

exchange rights. Class A preference shareholders have equal entitlement to distributions from the Fund as Unitholders. 

Unlimited Class B preference shares, non-voting for OESC, non-cumulative, exchangeable into trust units in accordance 

with the OESC shareholders’ agreement, with no priority on dissolution. Pursuant to the terms of the OESC shareholders’ 

agreement, all outstanding shareholder exchange rights relating to Class B preference shares were exercised by January 1, 

2004. Consequently, there are no Class B preference shares outstanding. 
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2005 2004 

Restated 
Note 4 

Issued and Outstanding Units/Shares $ Units/Shares $ 

Trust units 

Balance, beginning of year 

Options exercised 

Exchanged from 

Class A preference shares 

Exchanged from 

Class B preference shares 

Additional units from exchange of 

Class B preference shares 

Balance before income and distributions 

91,093,142 

2,959,992 

1,462,483 

– 

– 

95,515,617 

177,323 

15,379 

3,656 

– 

– 

196,358 

86,038,534 

3,136,646 

196,300 

1,652,128 

69,534 

91,093,142 

208,078 

14,379 

491 

4,130 

1,758 

228,836 

Class A preference shares 

Balance, beginning of year 

Exchanged into units 

Balance, end of year 

11,631,178 

(1,462,483) 

10,168,695 

29,078 

(3,656) 

25,422 

11,827,478 

(196,300) 

11,631,178 

29,569 

(491) 

29,078 

Class B preference shares 

Balance, beginning of year – – 1,652,128 4,130 

Exchanged into units – – (1,652,128) (4,130) 

Balance, end of year – – – – 

Combined balance, end of year 105,684,312 221,780 102,724,320 257,914 

Net income – 37,205 – 23,015 

Distributions1 – (85,879) – (72,770) 

Class B preference share 

distributions paid – – – (1,758) 

Unitholders’ equity, end of year 105,684,312 173,106 102,724,320 206,401 

1Unitholders are entitled to receive distributions. The holders of Class A preference shares, unit appreciation rights and deferred unit grants 
are also entitled to receive distributions equal to the amount receivable if their shares/rights were exchanged into units of the Fund. Pre-tax 
distributions for the years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 are as follows: 

2005 2004 

Unitholders $ 80,014 $ 67,147 

Class A preference shareholders before tax 

Unit appreciation rights 

9,088 

56 

8,802 

– 

89,158 75,949 

Deferred unit grants 3 – 

$ 89,161 $ 75,949 
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13. Unit based compensation plans 
(a) Unit option plan 

The Fund grants awards under its 2001 unit option plan to directors, officers, full-time employees and service 

providers (non-employees) of Energy Savings. In accordance with the unit option plan, the Fund may grant options 

to a maximum of 11,300,000 units. As at March 31, 2005, there were 1,134,166 options still available for grant under 

the plan. Of the options issued, 1,825,835 remain outstanding at year end. The exercise price of the unit options 

equals the closing market price of the Fund’s units on the last business day preceding the grant date. The unit 

options will vest over periods ranging from three to five years from the grant date and expire after five or ten years 

from the grant date. 

A summary of the status of the Fund’s unit option plan is outlined below. 

Weighted Weighted 
Outstanding Range of Average Average Grant  

Options Exercise Prices Exercise Price1 Date Fair Value2 

Balance, April 1, 2003 7,463,974 $2.50–$7.58 $ 3.72 

Granted 859,000 $8.75–$15.45 $ 11.80 $ 1.49 

Forfeited/canceled (534,668) $5.01–$6.09 $ 5.04 

Exercised (3,136,646) $2.50–$7.58 $ 3.55 

Balance, March 31, 2004 4,651,660 $2.50 –$15.45 $ 5.17 

Granted 170,000 $15.50–$18.70 $ 17.33 $ 2.63 

Forfeited/canceled (35,833) $11.25–$16.58 $ 11.62 

Exercised (2,959,992) $2.50–$11.25 $ 3.44 

Balance, March 31, 2005 1,825,835 $2.50–$18.70 $ 8.99 

1The weighted average exercise price is calculated by dividing the exercise price of options granted by the number of options granted. 
2The weighted average grant date fair value is calculated by dividing the fair value of options granted by the number of options granted. 

2005 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable 

Weighted Average 
Range of Number Remaining Weighted Average Number Weighted Average 
Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price 

$2.50–$3.24 199,998 1.08 $ 2.50 199,998 $ 2.50 

$4.24–$6.09 574,005 1.85 $ 5.10 60,667 $ 5.91 

$7.29–$7.58 100,000 2.23 $ 7.52 13,333 $ 7.29 

$8.75–$12.17 769,332 7.24 $ 11.83 240,000 $ 11.95 

$14.25–$18.70 182,500 3.91 $ 17.12 3,000 $ 14.65 

Balance, 

end of year 1,825,835 4.26 $ 8.99 516,998 $ 7.48
 

http:14.25�$18.70
http:8.75�$12.17
http:7.29�$7.58
http:4.24�$6.09
http:2.50�$3.24
http:2.50�$18.70
http:2.50�$11.25
http:11.25�$16.58
http:15.50�$18.70
http:2.50�$7.58
http:5.01�$6.09
http:8.75�$15.45
http:2.50�$7.58


58 
Energy Savings Income Fund Annual Report 2005 

2004 Options Outstanding 

Weighted Average 
Range of Number Remaining Weighted Average 
Exercise Prices Outstanding Contractual Life Exercise Price 

$2.50–$3.24 2,266,654 2.09 $ 2.52 

$4.24–$6.09 1,346,006 2.85 $ 5.09 

$7.29–$7.58 180,000 3.24 $ 7.54 

$8.75–$12.17 844,000 4.33 $ 11.75 

$14.25–$15.45 15,000 4.71 $ 14.65 

Balance, 
end of year 4,651,660 2.77 $ 5.17 

Options Exercisable 

Number Weighted Average 
Exercisable Exercise Price 

173,332 $ 2.50 

56,000 $ 6.00 

6,666 $ 7.29 

– $ – 

– $ – 

235,998 $ 3.47 

Options Available for Grant 

Balance, beginning of year 

Add: canceled/forfeited during the year 

Less: granted during the year 

Balance, end of year 

2005 2004 

1,268,333 1,592,665 

35,833 534,668 

(170,000) (859,000) 

1,134,166 1,268,333 

The Fund uses a binomial option pricing model to estimate the fair values of options granted. The binomial 

model was chosen because of the yield associated with the units. Fair values of employee unit options are estimated 

at grant date. Fair values of non-employee unit options are estimated and revalued each reporting period until a 

measurement date is achieved. The following weighted average assumptions have been used when calculating 

valuations for 2005: 

Risk free rate 3.3%–4.1% 

Expected volatility 25.59%–26.03% 

Expected life 3.5–5 years 

Expected distributions $0.805–$0.865 per year 

(b) Unit appreciation rights 
The Fund grants awards under its 2004 unit appreciation rights (“UARs”) plan to senior officers or service providers 

of its subsidiaries and affiliates in the form of fully paid UARs. In accordance with the unit appreciation rights plan, 

the Fund may grant UARs to a maximum of 1,000,000. As at March 31, 2005 there were 759,574 UARs still available 

for grant under the plan. UARs were accrued in fiscal 2004 but not granted until 2005. Except as otherwise provided, 

(i) the UARs vest from two to five years from the grant date, (ii) the UARs expire no later than ten years from the 

grant date, (iii) a holder of UARs is entitled to distributions as if a UAR were a unit, and (iv) when vested, the holder 

of a UAR may exchange one UAR for one unit. 

UARs Available for Grant 2005 

Balance, beginning of year 1,000,000 

Granted (240,426) 

Balance, end of year 759,574 
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(c)	 Deferred unit grants 
The Fund grants awards under its 2004 Directors’ deferred compensation plan to all independent directors. 

In accordance with the deferred compensation plan, the Fund may grant deferred unit grants (“DUGs”) to a 

maximum of 100,000. The DUGs vest the earlier of the date of the Director’s resignation or three years following 

the date of grant and expire ten years following the date of grant. As of March 31, 2005, there were 90,635 DUGs 

available for grant under the plan. No DUGs were granted during fiscal 2004. 

DUGs Available for Grant	 2005 

Balance, beginning of year 100,000
 

Granted (9,365)
 

Balance, end of year	 90,635 

Total amounts credited to contributed surplus in respect of the unit based compensation plans amounted to $3,462 

for the year ended March 31, 2005 (2004 – $5,980). 

Total amounts charged to contributed surplus in respect of awards exercised during the year ended March 31, 2005 

amounted to $5,203 (2004 – $3,243). 

Cash received from options exercised for the year ended March 31, 2005 amounted to $10,172 (2004 – $11,136). 

14. Financial instruments 
(a)	 Fair value 

Energy Savings has a variety of gas and electricity supply contracts that are considered derivative financial instruments. 

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is the estimated amount Energy Savings would pay or receive 

to dispose of these supply contracts in the market. Management has estimated the value of electricity and gas 

swap contracts using a discounted cash flow method which employs market forward curves as well as a forward curve 

compiled by management for Alberta electricity (Alberta electricity information is based on market). Gas options 

have been valued using the Black option value model using applicable market forward curves and the implied 

volatility from other market traded gas options. 

(i)	 At March 31, 2005, Energy Savings had electricity fixed-for-floating swap contracts designated as hedges of 

Energy Savings’ anticipated cost of sales to which it has committed with the following terms: 

Notional volumes (peak and flat) 5–75 MWh 

Total estimated notional volume (peak, flat and load following) 10,942,004 MWh 

Maturity dates April 30, 2005–May 31, 2011 

Fixed price per MWh (in dollars) $39.25–$82.25 

Fair value $38,218 gain 

Notional value $611,434 

Since hedge accounting has been applied to these swaps, no recognition of the marked to market gain has been 

recognized in these financial statements. The electricity fixed-for-floating contracts related to the Province of 

Alberta are load following, wherein the quantity of electricity contained in the supply contract “follows” the 

usage of customers designated by the supply contract. Notional volumes associated with these contracts are 

estimates and subject to change with customer usage requirements. 

http:39.25�$82.25
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(ii) At March 31, 2005, Energy Savings has a fixed-for-floating gas swap contract which has been marked to market 

with the following terms: 

Notional volume 1,000 GJ/day 

Total notional volume 244,000 GJ 

Maturity date November 30, 2005 

Fixed price per GJ (in dollars) $5.23 

Fair value $716 gain 

Notional value $1,276 

The gain of $716 for the year ended March 31, 2005 has been recorded in other assets with its offsetting value 

being recorded in other income. 

(iii) At March 31, 2005, Energy Savings has a floating-for-fixed gas swap contract which has been marked to market 

with the following terms: 

Notional volume 1,000 GJ/day 

Total notional volume 244,000 GJ 

Maturity date November 30, 2005 

Fixed price per GJ (in dollars) $7.26 

Fair value $171 loss 

Notional value $1,771 

The loss of $171 for the year ended March 31, 2005 has been recorded in other assets with its offsetting value 

being recorded in other income. 

(iv) At March 31, 2005, Energy Savings has gas puts and calls in Manitoba which have been marked to market with 

the following terms: 

Notional volume 1,500–54,137 GJ/month 

Total notional volume 1,562,800 GJ 

Maturity dates April 30, 2005–October 31, 2008 

Fixed price per GJ (in dollars) $5.48–$6.03 

Fair value $644 loss 

The loss of $644 for the year ended March 31, 2005 has been recorded in other liabilities with its offsetting value 

being recorded in other income. The fair value of the options is net of the present value of premiums which 

have yet to be paid. 

(v)	 At March 31, 2005, Energy Savings had gas puts and calls in Alberta which have been marked to market with 

the following terms: 

Notional volume 500–95,500 GJ/month 

Total notional volume 2,666,500 GJ 

Maturity dates April 30, 2005–February 28, 2011 

Fixed price per GJ (in dollars) $5.50–$8.30 

Fair value $1 gain 

The gain of $1 for the year ended March 31, 2005 has been recorded in other assets with its offsetting value 

being recorded in other income. The fair value of the options is net of the present value of premiums which 

have yet to be paid. 

http:5.50�$8.30
http:5.48�$6.03
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(vi) At March 31, 2005, Energy Savings has gas put and call options in the United States which have been marked to 

market with the following terms: 

Notional volume 500–45,000 MmBTU/month 

Total notional volume 6,017,500 MmBTU 

Maturity dates April 30, 2005–April 30, 2010 

Fixed price per MmBTU (in dollars) $6.65–$7.74 (US$5.20–US$6.05) 

Fair value $2,356 gain (US$1,949) 

The fair value is net of prepaid premiums of $2,570 (US$2,125). These premiums are included in other 

assets. The gain of $2,356 for the year ended March 31, 2005 has been recorded in other assets with its offsetting 

value being recorded in other income. 

These derivative financial instruments create a credit risk for Energy Savings since they have been transacted 

with a limited number of counterparties. Should any counterparty be unable to fulfill its obligations under the 

contracts, Energy Savings may not be able to realize the other asset balance recognized in the financial statements. 

Energy Savings’ physical gas supply contracts are not considered derivative financial instruments and a fair 

value has therefore not been assessed. 

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, 

management incentive program payable and unit distribution payable approximate their fair values due to their 

short-term liquidity. 

(b) Interest rate risk 
During the year, OESC and USESC entered into a $60,000 operating credit facility agreement with a group of 

financial institutions for a term of 364 days plus a one-year term-out option. The operating line of credit bears interest 

at bank prime plus 0.5% and letters of credit bear interest at 1.5%. All obligations under the former $10,000 credit 

facility have been terminated and all outstanding letters of credit have been transferred to the new credit facility. 

The new operating credit facility is being used to meet working capital requirements as Energy Savings continues to 

expand into new markets. Total letters of credit outstanding as at March 31, 2005 amount to $6,120. Energy Savings is 

required to meet a number of financial covenants under the credit facility agreement. At March 31, 2005, all of these 

covenants have been met. 

To complement the new operating credit facility, Coral Energy Canada Inc. (“Coral”) and the lenders entered into 

an intercreditor agreement whereby Coral and the lenders (“Secured Creditors”) jointly hold security over a majority 

of the assets of Energy Savings. All LDC receipts are directed to the Collateral Agent, one of the financial institutions 

in the syndicate. The Collateral Agent holds the monies in trust in a lock box account for the Secured Creditors. All 

commodity suppliers invoice Energy Savings directly. On a monthly basis, Energy Savings will direct the Collateral 

Agent to deduct the cost of commodity, and related administration fees, from the lock box account and remit the 

remaining proceeds to Energy Savings. 
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(c) Customer credit risk 
In Illinois and Alberta, Energy Savings assumes the credit risk associated with the collection of its customers. 


Credit review processes have been put in place for these markets where Energy Savings has credit risk. If a significant
 

number of customers were to default on their payments, it could have a material adverse effect on Energy Savings’
 

operations and cash flow.
 

For the remaining markets in which Energy Savings operates, the LDCs provide collection services and assume the
 

risk of any bad debts owing from Energy Savings’ customers. Therefore, Energy Savings receives the collection of
 

customer account balances directly from the LDCs. Management believes that the risk of the LDCs failing to deliver
 

payment to Energy Savings is minimal.
 

(d) Foreign currency risk 
Energy Savings has an exposure to foreign currency exchange rates, as a result of its investment in U.S. operations. 

Changes in the applicable exchange rate may result in a decrease or increase in income. A non-cash loss of $583 for 

the year ended March 31, 2005 (2004 – $30) has been recorded in other income. 

15.	 Income per unit 
As explained in Note 4, Energy Savings has adopted EIC-151. As a result of the adoption of this policy, the comparative 

basic and diluted income per unit calculations for the year ended March 31, 2004 have been restated to reflect the change. 

2005 2004 

Restated 
Note 4 

Basic income per unit 

Net income available to Unitholders	 $ 37,205 $ 23,015 

Weighted average number of units outstanding 93,868,000 88,787,000 

Weighted average number of Class A preference shares 10,848,000 11,722,000 

Weighted average number of Class B preference shares – 1,169,000 

Basic units and shares outstanding	 104,716,000 101,678,000 

Basic income per unit	 $ 0.36 $ 0.23 

Diluted income per unit1 

Net income available to Unitholders	 $ 37,205 $ 23,015 

Basic units and shares outstanding	 104,716,000 101,678,000 

Dilutive effect of: 

Unit options 1,506,000 3,496,000 

Unit appreciation rights 55,000 – 

Units outstanding on a diluted basis	 106,277,000 105,174,000 

Diluted income per unit	 $ 0.35 $ 0.22 

1For the year ended March 31, 2005, the conversion of unit options and unit appreciation rights is dilutive. For the year ended 
March 31, 2004, the exercise of unit options is dilutive. 
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16.	 Reportable operating segments 
Energy Savings operates in two reportable geographic segments, Canada and the United States. Reporting by geographic 

region is in line with the Company’s performance measurement parameters. Each segment has senior level executives 

responsible for the performance of the segment. The Canadian operations have both gas and electricity business segments 

while the U.S. operations have gas only. The results from operations in the United States were not significant for the year 

ended March 31, 2004 and therefore have not been separately disclosed. 

In prior years, Energy Savings disclosed its reportable operating segments based on the division between its two product 

lines, gas and electricity. Due to the fact that the comparative figures for the U.S. operations are insignificant, 

Energy Savings has also disclosed the results of operations for the years ended March 31, 2005 and 2004 based on 

product lines. 

Energy Savings evaluates segment performance based on gross margin. 

The following table presents Energy Savings’ results from continuing operations by geographic segment: 

2005	 Canada United States Consolidated 

Sales from external customers and third parties 	 $ 894,060 $ 26,853 $ 920,913 

Gross margin 161,512 4,737 166,249
 

Interest expense (104) – (104)
 

Amortization of gas contracts (49,120) – (49,120)
 

Amortization of electricity contracts (2,150) – (2,150)
 

Amortization of capital assets (1,798) (58) (1,856)
 

Other expenses (64,406) (8,555) (72,961)
 

Other income 529 1,539 2,068
 

Provision for income tax (4,921) – (4,921)
 

Net income (loss) $ 39,542 $ (2,337) $ 37,205 

Additions to capital assets $ 5,540 $ 102 $ 5,642 

Total goodwill $ 94,576 $ – $ 94,576 

Total assets $ 323,250 $ 17,748 $ 340,998 
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The following table presents Energy Savings’ results from continuing operations by product line: 

2005 

Sales from external customers 

and third parties 

Gas 

$ 648,690 

Electricity 

$ 272,223 

Corporate 

$ – 

Consolidated 

$ 920,913 

Gross margin 127,385 38,864 – 166,249
 

Interest – – (104) (104)
 

Amortization of gas contracts (49,120) – – (49,120)
 

Amortization of electricity contracts –  (2,150) – (2,150)
 

Amortization of capital assets (287) (378) (1,191) (1,856)
 

Other expenses – – (72,961) (72,961)
 

Other income –  –  2,068 2,068
 

Provision for income tax – – (4,921) (4,921)
 

Net income (loss) $ 77,978 $ 36,336 $ (77,109) $ 37,205 

Additions to capital assets $ 2,352 $ 162 $ 3,128 $ 5,642 

Total goodwill $ 94,576 $ – $ – $ 94,576 

Total assets $ 273,287 $ 28,102 $ 39,609 $ 340,998 

2004 (Restated – see Note 4) Gas Electricity Corporate Consolidated 

Sales from external customers 

and third parties $ 525,497 $ 207,607 $ – $ 733,104 

Gross margin 101,456 27,593 – 129,049
 

Interest – – (111) (111)
 

Amortization of gas contracts (54,823) – – (54,823)
 

Amortization of electricity contracts – (890) – (890)
 

Amortization of capital assets (16) (351) (703) (1,070)
 

Other expenses – – (56,926) (56,926)
 

Other income – – 514 514
 

Recovery of income tax – – 7,272 7,272
 

Net income (loss) $ 46,617 $ 26,352 $ (49,954) $ 23,015 

Additions to capital assets $ 935 $ 409 $ 2,672 $ 4,016 

Total goodwill $ 94,576 $ – $ – $ 94,576 

Total assets $ 233,355 $ 13,158 $ 55,063 $ 301,576 
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17. Guarantees 
(a) Officers and directors 

Corporate indemnities have been provided by the Fund to all directors and certain officers of its subsidiaries and 

affiliates for various items including, but not limited to, all costs to settle suits or actions due to their association with 

the Fund and its subsidiaries and/or affiliates, subject to certain restrictions. The Fund has purchased directors’ and 

officers’ liability insurance to mitigate the cost of any potential future suits or actions. Each indemnity, subject to 

certain exceptions, applies for so long as the indemnified person is a director or officer of one of the Fund’s subsidiaries 

and/or affiliates. The maximum amount of any potential future payment cannot be reasonably estimated. 

(b) Operations 
In the normal course of business, the Fund and/or the Fund’s subsidiaries and affiliates have entered into agreements 

that include guarantees in favor of third parties, such as purchase and sale agreements, leasing agreements and 

transportation agreements. These guarantees may require the Fund and/or its subsidiaries and affiliates to compensate 

counterparties for losses incurred by the counterparties as a result of breaches in representation and regulations or as 

a result of litigation claims or statutory sanctions that may be suffered by the counterparty as a consequence of the 

transaction. The maximum amount payable under these guarantees is estimated to be $15,000. 

18. Commitments 
(a) Commitments for premises and equipment under operating lease obligations for each of the next five years are as follows: 

2006 $ 2,060 

2007 2,085 

2008 2,079 

2009 2,003 

2010 1,816 

$ 10,043 

(b) Commitments under the Marketing Agreements for each of the next two years are as follows: 

2006 $ 2,041 

2007 2,041 

$ 4,082 

(c) Commitments under the Master Services Agreement with EPCOR for the duration of the agreement are as follows 

(see Note 19): 

2006 $ 5,700 

2007 5,900 

2008 1,625 

2009 200 

$ 13,425 
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(d) Commitments under long-term gas and electricity contracts with various suppliers for each of the next five years are 

as follows: 

2006 $ 763,842 

2007 619,328 

2008 457,977 

2009 273,743 

2010 122,100 

$ 2,236,990 

Energy Savings is also committed under long-term contracts with customers to supply gas and electricity. These contracts 

have various expiry dates and renewal options. 

19.	 Alberta services agreements 
On December 1, 2004, Energy Savings, through its subsidiary, AESLP, entered into long-term arrangements with 

subsidiaries of EPCOR. These arrangements include a five-year Master Services Agreement, a Wholesale Natural Gas 

and Financial Electricity Swap Agreement, a Prudential Support Agreement and supply agreements (in respect of 

the acquired customers), each of which is described below: 

(a) Master Services Agreement 
AESLP and EPCOR have entered into a Master Services Agreement. Services to be provided include customer 

call center services, financial reporting and reconciliation, customer enrollment and billing and collection services. 

The services will be provided for customers secured in the Province of Alberta only. Energy Savings has established 

defined performance levels for each of the service areas. To the extent service levels are not achieved, AESLP has 

the right to certain payments or to terminate the Master Services Agreement. 

(b) Wholesale Natural Gas Purchase and Financial Electricity Swap Agreement 
In addition to providing the energy supply for the acquired customers, EPCOR will provide gas and electricity supply 

up to a predetermined volume threshold for AESLP’s future marketing requirements. 

(c) Prudential Support Agreement 
EPCOR will post and monitor, on behalf of AESLP, any credit support requirements with the Alberta Electric 

System Operator, wire service providers and gas distributors. AESLP will pay EPCOR a fee for the credit support 

services. If and to the extent that there is a collateral call by the secured parties, AESLP will either post directly or 

reimburse EPCOR. 
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20. Adjustments required to reflect net cash receipts from gas sales 
2005 2004 

Changes in: 

Accrued gas accounts payable 

Unbilled revenues 

$ 

$ 

10,490 

(13,041) 

(2,551) 

$ 

$ 

(4,297) 

9,507 

5,210 

21. Changes in non-cash working capital 
2005 2004 

Management incentive program payable 

Prepaid expenses 

Gas in storage 

Corporate taxes payable 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

Accounts receivable 

Other 

$ 

$ 

(45) 

(305) 

(414) 

9,563 

63,186 

(83,004) 

(2,570) 

(13,589) 

$ 

$ 

(177) 

(755) 

– 

(90) 

257 

1,177 

– 

412 

22.	 Economic dependence 
A significant portion of gas and electricity purchases by Energy Savings are contracted with Coral Energy Canada Inc., 

an affiliate of Shell Oil Company, and gas and electricity is delivered to end-use customers by local distribution companies. 

The ongoing operations of Energy Savings depend on the ability of Coral to service the gas and electricity sales agreement 

and on the ability of the local distribution companies to deliver gas and electricity to end-use customers. 

23.	 Subsequent event 
On May 19, 2005, OESC entered into a purchase and sale agreement to acquire 187,000 retail electricity customer contracts 

from EPCOR Utilities Inc. with an average remaining life of 1.5 years. The purchase price of the acquisition was $7,000 

(subject to adjustments) and was funded out of working capital. As part of the acquisition arrangements Energy Savings 

also secured wholesale electricity to hedge the expected consumption requirements of the acquired customers. 
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